

Geographical Differences and Twenty-Year Changes in the Prevalence of Osteoporosis and Fractures in Canadians: the Canadian Multicenter Osteoporosis Study and the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

Nazila Hassanabadi

Division of Experimental Medicine McGill University, Montreal

July 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

Copyright © Nazila Hassanabadi, 2022

"This thesis is dedicated to positive change in a world full of opportunity" ¹

¹<u>https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/33284198/athis-thesis-is-dedicated-to-positive-change-in-a-world-full-of-</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTSV
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS VII
LIST OF FIGURESVIII
LIST OF TABLES IX
ABBREVIATIONSX
ABSTRACTXIII
RÉSUMÉXV
CHAPTER 11
BACKGROUND1
1.1 Osteoporosis2
1.1.1 Definition2
1.1.2 Bone mineral density measurement2
1.1.3 Epidemiology and disease burden4
1.1.3.1 Geographical variations in osteoporosis, BMD, and fractures
1.1.3.1.1 Variations in osteoporosis and BMD
1.1.3.1.2 Variations in fractures7
1.1.3.1.3 Etiology of variations7
1.1.3.2 Secular changes in BMD and fractures9
1.1.4 Clinical risk factors for osteoporosis and fractures
1.2 Management of osteoporosis
1.2.1 Fracture risk assessment
1.2.2 Lifestyle modification15
1.2.3 Pharmacologic therapy16

1.2.4	Treatment gap18
CHAPTER	221
RATIONAL	LE & OBJECTIVES21
2.1	Study rationale
2.2	Study objectives
CHAPTER	325
MANUSCR OVER 20 Y MULTICEI	IPT 1: VARIATION IN BONE MINERAL DENSITY AND FRACTURES EARS AMONG CANADIANS: A COMPARISON OF THE CANADIAN NTER OSTEOPOROSIS STUDY AND THE CANADIAN LONGITUDINAL
STUDY ON	AGING
3.1	Abstract
3.2	Introduction
3.3	Methods
3.3.1	Data source and study population
3.3.2	Variables
3.3.2	.1 Bone mineral density
3.3.2	.2 Osteoporosis, fractures, and anti-osteoporosis treatment
3.3.2	.3 Anthropometric measurements
3.3.2	.4 Other variables
3.3.3	Statistical methods
3.4	Results
3.4.1	Baseline characteristics
3.4.2	Osteoporosis and bone mineral density
3.4.3	Major osteoporosis fracture
3.4.4	Anti-osteoporosis treatment use in participants at high-risk for fracture35

	3.5	Discussion	.36
	3.6	Ethics approval	.39
	3.7	Acknowledgements	.39
	3.8	Authors' contributions	.40
	3.9	Conflicts of interest	.40
	3.10	Tables	.41
	3.11	Figures	.43
	3.12	Supplemental Material	.46
	3.13	References	.46
СНА	PTER 4		.51
BRII)GING .		.51
СНА	PTER 5	, 	.53
MAN	USCRI	PT 2: GEOGRAPHIC VARIATION IN BONE MINERAL DENSITY AND)
PRE	VALEN	T FRACTURES IN CANADIAN LONGITUDINAL STUDY ON AGING	
			.53
	5.1	Abstract	.53 .54
	5.1 5.2	Abstract	.53 .54 .55
	5.1 5.2 5.3	Abstract Introduction Methods	.53 .54 .55 .56
	5.15.25.35.3.1	Abstract Introduction Methods Data source and study population	.53 .54 .55 .56
	 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.3.1 5.3.2 	Abstract Introduction Methods Data source and study population Variables	.53 .54 .55 .56 .56 .57
	 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.2.1 	Abstract Introduction Methods Data source and study population Variables Geographical regions	.53 .54 .55 .56 .56 .57
	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.2.1 5.3.2.2	Abstract Introduction Methods Data source and study population Variables Geographical regions Anthropometric measurement	.53 .54 .55 .56 .56 .57 .57
	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.2.1 5.3.2.2 5.3.2.3	Abstract Introduction Methods Data source and study population Variables Geographical regions Anthropometric measurement Bone mineral density	.53 .54 .55 .56 .57 .57 .57
	5.1 5.2 5.3 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.2.1 5.3.2.2 5.3.2.3 5.3.2.4	Abstract. Introduction Methods Data source and study population. Variables Geographical regions. 2 Anthropometric measurement 3 Bone mineral density 4 Osteoporosis, fractures and falls.	.53 .54 .55 .56 .57 .57 .57 .57

	5.3.2.6	Other variables
	5.3.3	Statistical methods60
	5.4	Results
	5.4.1	Baseline characteristics
	5.4.2	Osteoporosis, BMD, and prevalent fractures63
	5.5	Discussion
	5.6	Data availability statement
	5.7	Ethics approval
	5.8	Acknowledgements
	5.9	Authors' contributions
	5.10	Conflicts of interest
	5.11	Tables
	5.12	Figures74
	5.13	References
СНАР	TER 6.	
DISCU	USSION	
	6.1	General discussion
	6.2	Future work and perspectives
	6.3	Conclusion
СНАР	TER 7.	
REFE	RENCE	ES89

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my most sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Suzanne Morin, whose role in my life was fundamental during the past three years; thank you for trusting me and accepting me as an MSc student; thank you for supporting me during my education in every possible way; thank you for training, protecting, and liberating me through your unwavering mentorship. I will carry the invaluable lessons that I learned from you for the rest of my life. I am also incredibly grateful to Claudie Berger, who always evaluated my work with a keen lens and patiently guided me through steps and for being my friend; you always went above and beyond to help me, and I absolutely appreciate your prompt answers to my most untimely questions and requests. I am also especially grateful to all the nice people in Dr. Morin's lab, for their friendly faces, constant assistance, and kindness throughout my studies.

I want to extend my gratitude to my committee members, Dr. David Goltzman and Dr. Elham Rahme, for your superb guidance and feedback. I would like to thank Dr. Ruth Sapir-Pichhadze for serving as my academic advisor and for sharing your wealth of knowledge about graduate school and my future academic goals. Moreover, I would like to thank all CaMos and CLSA participants for their time and contribution, without whom these projects were impossible. I would also like to thank the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) and Le Réseau de recherche en santé buccodentaire et osseuse (RSBO) for providing financial support for my work.

I would like to acknowledge my better half, Pooria, who has stood by me from day one. Thank you for holding me up when I was the most fragile. I cannot imagine how hard it would have been if I did not have you by my side. Thank you for your caring, kind soul and your unconditional love. I also want to thank my parents, who have consistently provided me with moral and personal support. They have also shown me that honesty and integrity are important values. I hope that I have made you proud. I would also like to thank my siblings and in-laws for your constant support and kindness throughout my Master's. I love you all and I am grateful to call you 'my family'. Finally, I would like to thank all my friends who helped me walk this way for three years. To Canada, my new country, thank you for giving me the opportunity to grow! And to my lost love, Iran...

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

The MSc Candidate (Nazila Hassanabadi) wrote the initial draft of all sections of this thesis. Under the guidance of the thesis supervisor (Dr. Suzanne Morin) and senior statistician (Claudie Berger), the candidate prepared the data application protocol for data access to the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study data, conducted all analyses using the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging and the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study data, and drafted the manuscripts. Dr. Morin supervised all aspects of the projects, revised the drafts and was responsible for the study results. Claudie Berger oversaw the statistical analysis and revised the manuscript. Dr. Morin, Claudie Berger and the Candidate had access to the data and vouched for the validity of the data. Drs. Alexandra Papaioannou, Angela M Cheung, Elham Rahme, William D Leslie, and David Goltzman helped with results interpretation and gave critical feedback on both manuscripts. All authors approved the final manuscripts.

These projects were funded through an operating grant from the Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) to Dr. Suzanne Morin. Dr. Morin is a scholar of the Fonds de Recherche du Québec-santé (FRQS). Nazila Hassanabadi received the Réseau de Recherche en santé buccodentaire et osseuse (RSBO) Fellowship Competition 2020-2021, the RSBO Student Conference Support, the Metabolic Disorders and Complications Program (MeDiC) Research Dissemination and Workshop Awards. Nazila was also selected as a top ranked Candidate in CIHR Institute of Aging Competition (Summer Program in Aging 2021) and attended two-week advance training on "Longitudinal Studies on Aging: Understanding Health Span and Longevity" in McMaster Institute for Research on Aging.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1. Prevalence of osteoporosis and major osteoporotic fractures (MOF) (%, CI) by sex
and age group43
Figure 3.2. Unadjusted and adjusted femoral neck bone mineral density (BMD) estimates (95%
CI) for cohort membership – CaMos vs. CLSA (reference)44
Figure 3.3. Unadjusted and adjusted Odds Ratios (95% CI) for major osteoporotic fractures
(MOF) according to cohort membership – CaMos vs. CLSA (reference)44
Figure 3.4. Anti-osteoporosis treatment use (%, CI) in participants at high-risk for fracture45
Figure 5.1. Flowchart of the participants74
Figure 5.2. Proportion of osteoporosis (Femoral neck T-score < -2.5) and mean total hip bone
mineral density (BMD, g/cm ²) in women and men75
Figure 5.3. Proportion of major osteoporotic fractures (MOF) in women and men76

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Baseline characteristics by cohort
Table 3.2. CaMos and CLSA participants with baseline characteristics that meet the definition of
high-risk for fracture42
Table 4.1. Baseline characteristics by province of residence 70
Table 4.2. Physical performance by province of residence 71
Table 4.3. Unadjusted and adjusted estimates (95% confidence intervals) for total hip bone
mineral density (BMD, g/cm ²) by province of residence72
Table 4.4. Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence intervals for prevalent
MOF by province of residence in women and men73

ABBREVIATIONS

25(OH)D: 25-hydroxy vitamin D

AB: Alberta

ADL: Activities of daily living

AFF: Atypical femur fractures

BC: British Columbia

BMD: Bone mineral density

BMI: Body mass index

BP: Bisphosphonate

CaMos: Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study

CCDSS: Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System

CCHS-HA: Canadian Community Health Survey - Healthy Aging

CI: Confidence Interval

CIHI: Canadian Institute for Health Information

CIHR: Canadian Institutes of Health Research

COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

CLSA: Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

CVA: Cerebrovascular accident

DOES: Dubbo Osteoporosis Epidemiology Study

DMO: Densité minérale osseuse

DXA: Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry

EFPIA: European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations

ELCV: Étude longitudinale canadienne sur le vieillissement

EU: European Union

FLS: Fracture Liaison Services

FOM: Fractures ostéoporotiques majeures

FRAX: Fracture risk assessment tool

FRQs: Fonds de Recherche du Québec - santé

GLOW: Global Longitudinal Study of Osteoporosis in Women

HT: Hormone therapy

IKT: Integrated knowledge translation

IMC: Indice de masse corporelle

IOF: International Osteoporosis Foundation

IQR: Interquartile ranges

ISCD: International Society for Clinical Densitometry

LSC: Least Significant Change

LSI: Life Space Index

MB: Manitoba

MOF: Major osteoporotic fractures

NHANES: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey

NL: Newfoundland and Labrador

NS: Nova Scotia

ON: Ontario

ONJ: Osteonecrosis of the jaw

OPUS: Osteoporosis and Ultrasound study

OR: Odds ratio

PHAC: Public Health Agency of Canada

PTH: Parathyroid hormone

QC: Quebec

QOL: Quality of life

RA: Rheumatoid arthritis

RANKL: Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand

RI-MUHC: Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre

RSBO: Réseau de recherche en santé buccodentaire et osseuse

SERM: Selective estrogen receptor modulator

SD: Standard deviation

TUG: Timed up and go

US: United States

WHI: Women's Health Initiative

WHO: World Health Organization

ABSTRACT

Osteoporosis is a major public health concern that brings long-term disability and excess mortality. Studies have shown that bone mineral density (BMD) and fracture rates have changed over time, and these parameters differ across and within countries. Data are lacking on changes in BMD, fracture rates, and management of osteoporosis in the last decades in Canada, and whether there are differences in the prevalence of osteoporosis and fractures across provinces. The Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos) and the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA), two population-based longitudinal cohorts recruited twenty years apart, provide valuable information about skeletal health determinants in Canadians.

This scholarly work consists of two projects. Firstly, using baseline data from the CLSA and CaMos cohorts, our objectives were to compare age- and sex-specific BMD, prevalent fracture patterns between cohorts, and anti-osteoporosis treatment use among individuals at high-risk for fracture over a twenty-year period. Secondly, using baseline data from CLSA, we aimed to describe sex-specific BMD and prevalent major osteoporotic fractures (MOF) patterns across Canadian provinces and to determine the association between physical performance measures and these outcomes.

In the first project, we compared the baseline data of participants 50-85 years from CaMos (N=6,479; 1995-1997) and the CLSA comprehensive cohort (N=19,534; 2012-2015). We documented that CaMos participants on average were older than in CLSA and that they also had lower mean height, body mass index (BMI), weight, and a higher prevalence of smoking than their cohort counterparts. In regression analyses, the mean BMD at the femoral neck was higher in CLSA than in CaMos while the odd for MOF was lower in CLSA compared to CaMos. In women

at high-risk for fractures, the use of anti-osteoporosis treatment was higher in CLSA, while in men, use of anti-osteoporosis treatment was very low, with no significant difference between cohorts. In the second project, we used the baseline data of 10,716 women and 10,511 men aged 50-85 years participating in the CLSA comprehensive cohort. We observed the lowest mean BMI in British Columbia (BC) and the highest in Newfoundland and Labrador (NL). The prevalence of osteoporosis was 5.2 % in women and 0.9 % in men and did not differ significantly between provinces. Adjusted linear regression analysis demonstrated significant differences in hip BMD across provinces; women and men from BC and Alberta (AB), and women from Manitoba (MB) and Nova Scotia (NS) had lower, while men from NS had higher adjusted BMD than Ontario ([ON]: reference). Adjusted Odds Ratios for prevalent MOF were significantly lower in women and men from BC compared to ON. While physical performance measures varied between provinces and were associated with BMD and fractures, adjusting for physical performance measures did not explain the observed geographical variations.

Through the study of two large cohorts, we documented changes in BMD and fracture rates in Canadians over the last two decades and the existence of geographical differences in these parameters. Furthermore, we noted the persistence of a care gap in women and in men at high-risk for fractures. The etiology of these differences is multifactorial and the result of unmeasured individual and societal factors such as lifestyle changes and access to healthcare. Increasing awareness of osteoporosis and fracture prevalence and how these parameters vary across jurisdictions can inform skeletal healthcare delivery throughout Canada.

RÉSUMÉ

L'ostéoporose est un problème important de santé publique important. La densité minérale osseuse (DMO) et les taux de fractures ont changé au fil du temps, et ces paramètres diffèrent d'un pays à l'autre et au sein du même pays. Il existe un manque de données sur les changements dans la DMO, les taux de fractures et la prise en charge de l'ostéoporose au cours des dernières décennies au Canada, et sur les différences dans la prévalence de l'ostéoporose et des fractures entre les provinces. L'Étude canadienne multicentrique sur l'ostéoporose (CaMos) et l'Étude longitudinale canadienne sur le vieillissement (ELCV), deux cohortes longitudinales recrutées à vingt ans d'intervalle, fournissent des informations sur les déterminants de la santé squelettique chez les Canadiens.

En utilisant les données des cohortes ELCV et CaMos, nous avons comparé la DMO selon l'âge et le sexe, le taux de fractures prévalentes entre les deux cohortes, ainsi que l'utilisation des traitements anti-ostéoporotiques chez les personnes à risque élevé de fracture. Ensuite, en utilisant les données de l'ELCV, nous avons décrit la prévalence de l'ostéoporose et des fractures ostéoporotiques majeures (FOM) dans les provinces canadiennes et déterminé l'association des mesures de la performance physique avec ces variables.

Nous avons comparé les données des participants de 50 à 85 ans de CaMos (N = 6 479 ; 1995-1997) et de l'ELCV (N = 19 534 ; 2012-2015). Nous avons observé que les participants de CaMos étaient en moyenne plus âgés que ceux de l'ELCV et qu'ils avaient également une taille, un indice de masse corporelle (IMC), un poids et une prévalence de tabagisme plus élevés que ceux de l'ELCV. Dans les analyses de régression, la DMO au col fémoral était plus élevée dans l'ELCV que celle dans CaMos, tandis que le taux de FOM était plus faible dans l'ELCV par rapport à CaMos. Chez les femmes à haut risque de fractures, le recours à un traitement anti-ostéoporotique était plus élevé dans l'ELCV, tandis que chez les hommes, le recours aux traitements antiostéoporotiques était très faible, sans différence significative entre les cohortes.

Dans le deuxième projet, nous avons utilisé les données de 10 716 femmes et 10 511 hommes âgés de 50 à 85 ans participant de la cohorte ELCV. Nous avons observé l'IMC moyen le plus bas en Colombie-Britannique (CB) et le plus élevé au Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador (T.-N.-L.). La prévalence de l'ostéoporose était de 5,2 % chez les femmes et de 0,9 % chez les hommes et ne différait pas significativement entre les provinces. Nous avons démontré des différences significatives dans la DMO entre les provinces; les femmes et les hommes de la CB et de l'Alberta, et les femmes du Manitoba et de la Nouvelle-Écosse avaient une DMO ajustée plus faible, alors que les hommes de la NE avaient une DMO ajustée plus élevée que ceux de l'Ontario (ON : référence). Les rapports des cotes ajustés pour les FOM étaient significativement plus faibles chez les femmes et les hommes de la CB par rapport à l'ON. Alors que les mesures de la performance physique variaient entre les provinces et étaient associées à la DMO et aux fractures, l'addition de ces mesures aux modèles de régression n'expliquait pas les variations géographiques observées.

Nous avons donc documenté les changements dans la DMO et les taux de fractures ostéoporotiques au cours des deux dernières décennies et l'existence de différences géographiques dans ces paramètres. De plus, nous avons noté la persistance d'un écart thérapeutique chez les femmes et chez les hommes à risque élevé de fractures. L'étiologie de ces différences résulte entre autres de facteurs individuels et sociétaux tels que le niveau d'éducation, les changements des habitudes de vie au fil du temps et l'accès aux soins de santé. Une sensibilisation accrue à la prévalence de l'ostéoporose et des fractures et à la façon dont ces paramètres varient d'une juridiction à l'autre peut éclairer la prestation des soins partout au Canada.

<u>CHAPTER 1</u> BACKGROUND

1.1 Osteoporosis 1.1.1 Definition

Osteoporosis is a common and major public health concern, often under-diagnosed (1, 2). This medical condition is characterized by chronic deterioration of bone architecture and accelerated loss of bone mass (3-5). Impaired bone microarchitectural structure increases fragility and predisposes the skeleton to fractures (6). Although the term "osteoporosis" was first introduced in France in the 1820s and entered the English terminology by 1885, its definition varied among researchers, medical dictionaries, and books for many years. Eventually, in 1993, an international consensus was achieved at an international conference held in Hong Kong: "a systemic skeletal disease characterized by low bone mass and microarchitectural deterioration of bone tissue, with a consequent increase in bone fragility and susceptibility to fracture" (7, 8). The International Society for Clinical Densitometry (ISCD) and the World Health Organization (WHO) have defined osteoporosis as the decline in bone mineral density (BMD) by equal or more than 2.5 standard deviations from the average of young healthy women (T-score ≤ -2.5) (9, 10). In clinical practice, BMD, measured at the lumbar spine and the hip, has robust ability to predict fractures (11). Osteoporosis is classified into two main categories: primary osteoporosis and secondary osteoporosis. Primary osteoporosis is considered as the most common form of the disease, and is a consequence of aging and sex hormone deficiency throughout life in both men and women (12). Secondary osteoporosis is defined as bone loss and increase bone fragility caused by underlying diseases and medication use such as glucocorticoids (13).

1.1.2 Bone mineral density measurement

In the absence of a typical fragility fracture, the gold standard for osteoporosis diagnosis is the measurement of BMD at the lumbar spine and proximal femur by dual-energy X-ray

absorptiometry (DXA) (10, 14). Bone densitometer machines are produced by different manufacturers, of which GE Lunar and Hologic are the two most common types. While they have similar specifications, they have differences in terms of methods of deriving energy beams, calibration techniques and ways of analyzing the scans mainly due to their manufacturer-specific intrinsic processing (15) (16). During the DXA scanning, the x-ray beams not absorbed by the bone are detected on the other side of the body while patient is lying on the table. The higher mineral content of the bone, the less energy detected. The radiation energy per pixel (picture element) is detected and converted into areal density. Values for BMD is presented as g/cm^2 and converted into values related to the average individual peak bone mass (T-score=patient's BMDpopulation peak BMD/standard deviation of population peak BMD) or to the bone mass related to the individual's age (z-score=patient's BMD-population age related BMD/standard deviation of population age related BMD) (17). For the purpose of osteoporosis diagnosis in individuals older than 50 years, BMD is expressed in T-score standard deviation values in relation to a 20–29 years old healthy woman, and is calculated from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) reference values for white women (14, 18). The Canadian Multicenter Osteoporosis Study (CaMos) has provided age- and skeletal site-specific reference norms for men and women based on the results of peak bone mass measurements in young participants (youth cohort); these differ from those accrued in the NHANES dataset (19). Routine screening for osteoporosis by BMD in the general population is not yet recommended as it is not cost-effective from a socioeconomic standpoint (20). In Canada, the 2010 clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis recommend that men and women age ≥ 65 years and adults < 65 years with clinical risk factors for osteoporosis and fracture be screened with BMD (<u>21, 22</u>).

Reduced bone density is a major risk factor for fragility fracture (23). The cortical and trabecular bone play a key role in determining the mechanical competence of bone and the risk for fracture. When the trabecular plates of bone (number of trabeculae, trabecular thickness, and connectivity) are lost, the architecturally weakened bone is prone to fractures. BMD measurement is a surrogate marker of bone strength; for each SD decrease in BMD, the fracture risk increases approximately two fold (24, 25). Due to the importance of the BMD, most risk assessment paradigms incorporate BMD for fracture prediction (26). However, BMD has low sensitivity (30-50 %) when used alone for fracture prediction, as most fragility fractures occur in patients who do not meet the BMD criteria for osteoporosis (9, 27, 28).

1.1.3 Epidemiology and disease burden

The population is aging worldwide. Globally, the number of individuals 65 years and older increased from 6 % in 1990 to 9 % in 2019 (29). This rise is projected to continue and reach 16 % by 2050; so that by 2050, 1 in 6 individuals in the world will be 65 years or older, up from 1 in 11 in 2019. In Canada, it is estimated that by 2031, at least one in every four Canadians will be 65 or older (30). As the population is aging, the number of older adults with chronic age-associated diseases such as osteoporosis is expected to increase (2, 31). Osteoporosis affects approximately 200 million people across the world, of which 54 million are estimated to be in the United States (US) (32). In the US, the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2013–2014 study demonstrated that the prevalence of osteoporosis (defined as a T-score of ≤ -2.5 at femoral neck, lumbar spine, or either) in adults aged \geq 50 years varied between 10 % and 17 % in women and 3 % to 5 % in men depending on the skeletal site measured (33). The Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos) estimated the prevalence of osteoporosis (based on lumbar spine T-score of ≤ -2.5) to be 12.0 % in women and 2.9 % in men \geq 50 years (34).

Osteoporosis is associated with fractures often termed fragility fractures, of which those of the hip, vertebral, humerus and wrist are commonly referred to as major osteoporotic fractures (MOF) (35). Fragility fractures bring a substantial burden to healthcare systems, individuals, and society (36); they are associated with significant reduction in health-related quality of life (QOL), mobility, activities of daily living (ADL), and survival (31, 37). Hip and vertebral fractures reduce autonomy, cause long-term disability, and increase costs to society and individuals (4, 5, 38-41). Worldwide osteoporosis-associated costs were estimated at US \$34.8 billion in 1998 and anticipated to rise dramatically by 2050 to US \$131.5 billion ($\frac{42}{2}$). The cost of fragility fractures in 27 countries of the European Union (EU) has been estimated to be CAN \$54.4 billion in 2010, equal to 26,300 life years lost (35). In Canada, the estimated burden of osteoporosis was \$4.6 billion in 2016 compared to \$2.3 billion in 2008 (43). Annually osteoporosis is the cause of more than 9 million fractures worldwide, equivalent to one fragility fracture every 3 seconds (35). On average, 1 in 3 women and 1 in 5 men older than 50 years, will experience at least one osteoporotic fracture in their lifetime (44). CaMos documented the prevalence of vertebral fractures on spine radiographs in women and men aged \geq 50 years combined to be 16.4 % (95 % Confidence Interval [CI] 15.4 -17.4) (45). Using provincial administrative health data of fiscal year 2015-16, the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System (CCDSS) of the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) reported that 2.2 millions (12 %) Canadians 40 years and older were living with osteoporosis and that 1.8 million Canadians had suffered a fracture at major osteoporotic sites (2). Approximately 30,000 hip fractures occur annually in Canada; more than one quarter occur in men, and three quarters are in men and women aged 75 and older (46, 47).

1.1.3.1 Geographical variations in osteoporosis, BMD, and fractures

1.1.3.1.1 Variations in osteoporosis and BMD

The risk of osteoporosis and fractures varies worldwide, by geographic location, sex, race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status (48, 49). In a report by International Osteoporosis Foundation (IOF) and the European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations (EFPIA), the prevalence of osteoporosis (T-score \leq -2.5 at the femoral neck) in adults 50 years and older in the European Union was highest in Germany with 6.1 % of the total population (6.6 % in men and 22.6 % in women 50 years and older). In this report, the prevalence of osteoporosis varied from 5.7 % in Slovakia to 6.9 % in Greece, Italy and Sweden in men, and 19.3 % for Bulgaria to 23.4 % for Italy in women (50). The prevalence of osteoporosis documented by BMD T-score has been reported as being highest in Scandinavian countries than in other European countries (51). Using the Osteoporosis and Ultrasound study (OPUS) data, Paggiosi et al. described the proximal femur BMD in European women aged 60 to 69 years to be significantly higher compared to that for US women (European women 14.2 % vs. US women 7.1 %, P-value < 0.001) (52). In Canada, the CaMos study reported modest differences in BMD and in the prevalence of osteoporosis between Canadian provinces (53, 54). Indeed, the highest age-standardized mean total hip BMD was documented in Saskatoon, Toronto, and Kingston in both men and women, while the lowest agestandardized mean BMD was in Halifax (women) and in Quebec (men). Similarly, the prevalence of osteoporosis (defined by BMD T-score ≤ -2.5 at any site) varied across provinces and was the highest in Quebec in both men and women. The provinces with the lowest prevalence of osteoporosis did not necessarily have the highest prevalence of fracture.

1.1.3.1.2 Variations in fractures

Worldwide, the prevalence of hip fractures has been reported to vary between countries (49). The highest rates of hip fractures are documented in women compared to men (with an average ratio of 2:1) and in North America, Europe and Oceania compared with Asia, Middle East and Latin America (49, 55). In the systematic review by Kanis and coll., Denmark, Sweden, Austria, and Norway had the highest rates of hip fracture, and Nigeria, South Africa, and Ecuador had the lowest rates(56). Dhanwal and coll. reported a wide geographic variation in the incidence of hip fracture across different regions of the world the lowest hip fracture risk in Latin America and Africa, intermediate risk in Kuwait, China, Hong Kong and Iran, and the highest risk in North Europe and the US, and lowest in Latin America and Africa (57). In Latin America, studies have shown a prevalence of hip fracture of 4 to 36.2 for every 10,000 people (58). A study of women aged 50 or older in five Latin American countries (Porto Rico, Brazil, Colombia, Argentina and Mexico) found that the prevalence of vertebral fractures was similar to that of some parts of Europe and China (Beijing) (59). The prevalence of fractures not only differs between countries, but within regions of countries (40). Variation in inter-regional rates of fractures was recognized previously in the US, Europe, and Latin America (57). CaMos documented the presence of geographic variation of fractures between Canadian provinces (53). They also identified that the pattern of geographic variation in incident and prevalent low-trauma fracture were similar in both men and women; the highest rates of fracture was seen in Ontario and the lowest in Quebec.

1.1.3.1.3 Etiology of variations

The etiology for such variations is considered to be multifactorial and associated with a combinations of factors including population specific characteristics, race/ethnicity, income, urban residence, latitude, environmental factors, as well as public healthcare services provision (40, 57,

58). Cauley et al. noted that the 8–10 % higher BMD in men from Tobago compared to that from the US was associated with both race/ethnicity difference and urban lifestyle in the US. In Canada, the prevalence of osteoporosis among Canadians aged 25 years or older from CaMos was reported to be twice higher in White women than in Chinese women. The prevalence of fractures was also higher in White women compared to Chinese women and differences ranged from 5.3 % (95 % CI: 3.9; 6.8) for MOF in the younger age group to 14.5 % (9.2; 19.7) for any fractures in women 50+ years (<u>60</u>). Using the population-based Manitoba BMD Program registry of women aged 40 years or older, it has been documented that Asian and Black women have lower risk for MOF compared to White women (<u>61</u>).

A comprehensive evaluation of the fracture risk between developed and less developed countries suggested that a higher socioeconomic status within a country is associated with higher hip fracture rates than less developed regions (49). Socioeconomic status affects diet which then will impact anthropometric parameters (height and weight), bone mass and nutritional status. Nutritional deficit during certain period of life (specifically during childhood and adolescence) has led to a lower BMD in South Korean men than in men from Hong Kong (62). Geographic differences of vitamin D deficiency (defined as <75 nmol/l) varied across the world, ranged around 50 % in Thailand and Malaysia to 90 % in Japan and South Korea (49). The increasing height in wealthy countries compared to low-income countries leads to lower hip fracture rates and better bone mass (63). However, in a study of population fracture registry of women 50+ from Manitoba the decrease in MOF was reported to be related to improvements in BMD over time rather than other factors such as increasing BMI in the population (64).

Difference in osteoporosis or/and hormone therapy may also contribute to the differences in BMD between the US and other countries ($\underline{65}$). Urbanization in more developed countries, has led to

lower physical activity, reliance on cars and buses instead of walking or cycling, increase in hard surfaces, sitting in chairs rather than on the floor, and many other changes might help to explain the large differences in hip fracture rates in genetically similar populations living in different countries. CaMos study suggested a combined model of age, BMD, falls and prior fractures as a good predictor of geographic variation of fractures in both men and women (53). However, CaMos models were limited by the absence of ascertainment of variables such as vitamin D level and physical function measures.

1.1.3.2 Secular changes in BMD and fractures

BMD and fractures rates have changed over time in different parts of the world. There are reports of declining age-standardized fractures incidences in many countries over the last decade with similar trends in fragility fractures.

Identifying changes in BMD trajectory is essential to the understanding of prevention of osteoporosis and fracture in the population. In the US, secondary analysis of the NHANES data, demonstrated a decreasing trend in age-adjusted mean femoral neck BMD from 2005 to 2014 (66) (32). Age-adjusted mean BMD from 2005 to 2016 significantly decreased from 0.780 g/cm² to 0.771 g/cm² in women, and from 0.864 g/cm² to 0.832 g/cm² in men. In Canada, a significant annual linear increase of 0.52 % in BMD at the femoral neck was documented using the large Manitoba BMD registry data of women aged 50 years and older from 1996-2006 (64).

A secular decline in hip fracture risk has been reported in Europe, US and Canada over the second half of the 20th century, while an increase in these rates was detected in Asian countries such as Japan, China, Mexico and Taiwan (40) (49, 67). For example, in Belgium, age-adjusted incidence of hip fractures significantly decreased by 0.34 % and 1.12 % per year in men and women respectively (68). Similarly in Denmark a decline in the incidence rate of hip fractures was

observed, 20 % in men and 22 % in women from 1997 to 2006 (69). Analysis of data from the United Kingdom revealed that subsequent major and subsequent hip fractures declined -0.19 % and -0.17 % (from 1999 to 2012 respectively (70). In the US, data from the late 1990s and extending through the mid-2000s suggested that age-adjusted rates of hip fractures were declining (71). In Canada, age-standardized rates of hip fracture rates have decreased in both sexes from 1985 to 2005 (72). The major osteoporotic fracture rates have also decreased linearly from 1996 to 2006 in a large population-based cohort in Manitoba (64). The age-specific hip fracture rates over a 21-year period decreased by 31.8 % in women (from 118.6 to 80.9 fractures per 100,000 person-years) and by 25.0 % in men (from 68.2 to 51.1 fractures per 100,000 person-years) (36). The largest decrease in the percentage of hip fracture was observed in 55-64 years age group (36). Recently, PHAC has shown that despite an increase in the absolute number of fractures (at any fracture sites: hip, forearm, humerus, pelvic and spine) from 2000–2001 to 2015–2016, the age-standardized annual hip and forearm fracture rates have decreased while those of humerus fracture have remained stable and of pelvic and spine fractures have increased (2).

The actual causes of observed changes in fracture risk were considered to be multifactorial, including changes in obesity rates, anti-osteoporosis medications (40), birth cohort and period effects (73), changes in medical care, insurance coverage and reimbursement for DXA, improvement in BMD, and nutrition (33). Although, in the Manitoba cohort study, the decline in the hip fracture rates was thought to be explained by improvements in BMD, and not change in osteoporosis treatment and obesity (64). Other authors have reported that decline in testing and treatment for osteoporosis, change in the use of postmenopausal hormone therapy, vitamin D supplementation, changing patterns of physical activity, urbanization, and greater overall longevity have also led to changes in country-specific fracture rates. (73, 74).

1.1.4 Clinical risk factors for osteoporosis and fractures

Although osteoporosis is more common in women and in older individuals, it can affect people of all ages. A wide range of clinical risk factors associated with osteoporosis have been identified in the literature (58, 75). The presence of these risk factors varies significantly across populations (76, 77); the more risk factors one person has, the greater their risk for low bone mass and fractures (2). Overall, the risk of osteoporosis is higher in postmenopausal women (2, 49, 75) because of the accelerated bone resorption due to the loss of protective estrogens (78).

Osteoporosis risk factors are often divided into two categories: modifiable and non-modifiable (79). Non-modifiable risk factors are older age, female sex, personal history of fragility fracture ethnicity and genetics (2, 12, 80-82). Modifiable risk factors are low body mass index (BMI), low body weight (below 60 kg), major weight loss (more than 10 % of body weight documented at age 25), low appendicular lean mass (83), physical inactivity (especially resistance and high-impact activities) (84), smoking (85), excessive alcohol intake (more than three standard drinks per day) (86), and inadequate dietary calcium and vitamin D (87).

Other risk factors associated with secondary osteoporosis include medical conditions and longterm use of specific medications (2). The most common medical conditions associated with osteoporosis include rheumatologic and autoimmune disorders (e.g., rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, ankylosing spondylitis, multiple sclerosis), endocrine and hormonal disorders (hyperthyroidism, hypogonadism, hyperparathyroidism, diabetes mellitus, growth hormone deficiency and acromegaly), malabsorption disorders (e.g., celiac disease, inflammatory bowel disease, chronic liver diseases), renal disorders (e.g., chronic kidney disease), and some hematological disorders (e.g., multiple myeloma, beta thalassemia major) (2, 12, 80). Glucocorticoid is the leading medication causing drug-induced osteoporosis (12). Other medications associated with higher risk of osteoporosis include thyroid hormone, hypogonadisminducing agents, thiazolidinediones, alpha adrenergic blockers, antidepressants, anticonvulsants, narcotic and opioid medications, immunosuppressive therapy, antiretroviral therapy, heparin, loop diuretics, proton pump inhibitors, aluminum-containing antacids (2, 12, 80).

Independent from BMD, there are other clinical risk factors associated with fracture risk (88). Similar to osteoporosis, the prevalence of osteoporotic fractures rates increase with age and is higher in women (2, 49, 75). In both women and men, from the age of 50 years the fracture risk doubles with every decade mainly due to the decline in BMD as well as the increase in other clinical risk factors (86). Previous fragility fracture doubles the risk of a second fracture in both men and women (89). Excessive alcohol consumption (≥ 3 units per day) increases the risk of a fracture by 40 % due to poor nutritional status and direct effects on osteoblasts and parathyroid hormone levels (88). Similarly, an increased fracture risk has been reported in individuals with history of cigarette smoking (90). Glucocorticoid use (\geq 3 months) impairs bone formation, calcium absorption and muscle weakness and therefore increase the risk of falls and fractures (91, 92). History of hip fracture in parents is associated with an increased risk of fracture (93). Ethnicity (Caucasian and Asian), low level of education, low socioeconomic and living status, and genetics are identified in the literature as other risk factors for osteoporotic fractures (35, 49, 75, 81). Secondary risk factors, including disorders and medications that make the bone more fragile and/or effect balance (increasing risk of falling), and inadequate calcium and vitamin D intake influence bone remodelling and increased risk of fracture (88).

Falls are an important and independent predictor for fractures and the leading cause of the majority of hip fractures (94). Falls are the cause of 80 % percent of axial skeleton fractures and 50 % of those who fall will do so repeatedly (95). Physical function and mobility can also affect the risk

for fracture. Inactivity or load-bearing physical activity and muscle activity decrease mechanical load on the bone and muscle and therefore reduce bone remodeling and tension on bone. The risk for hip fractures have been shown to be 50 % higher in women who sit down for > 9 h/day compared to those who sit for <6 h/day (88). Physical performance measures (chair stand time, walking speed, grip strength) and muscle indices (appendicular lean mass), are known to predict fracture risk independently from other risk factors (94).

1.2 Management of osteoporosis 1.2.1 Fracture risk assessment

The suboptimal performance of bone mineral density as the sole predictor of fracture risk and treatment decision making has led to the development of fracture risk prediction algorithms (96). Fracture risk assessment tools are established to estimate fracture risk by combining multiple risk factors for fracture including demographic and physical characteristics, personal and family history, other health conditions, and medication use to create risk assessment tools (96, 97). The three tools that have been independently validated are Fracture risk assessment tool (FRAX®), Garvan Fracture risk calculator, and QFractureScores-2016 (26).

The FRAX® was launched in 2008 and has been the most widely studied tool incorporated into clinical practice guidelines (<u>1</u>, <u>7</u>). This tool is distinguished from others because it can directly be calibrated to fracture incidence rates in the target population and considers death as a competing risk (<u>26</u>). The FRAX[®] score is a computer-based risk assessment tool and was developed to calculate the 10-year probability of major osteoporotic fractures (MOF: hip, clinical spine, humerus or wrist fracture) and hip fractures by considering well-established and independent variables related to skeletal fracture risk (<u>97</u>). The variables entered in FRAX calculator include individuals' demographic data (age, gender, body mass index (BMI), alcohol intake, and current

smoking), important clinical risk factors (fracture history, parental hip fracture, glucocorticoids use, rheumatoid arthritis or RA, and secondary osteoporosis), and BMD at the femoral neck as an optional input variable (98, 99). As fracture probability differs markedly in different regions of the world, FRAX[®] is calibrated to those countries where the epidemiology of fracture and mortality rates is known (7). FRAX[®] has been validated in 64 countries, including Canada, and yearly almost 6 million FRAX calculations are done (1, 7). Despite the fact that FRAX is well accepted worldwide, there are limitations to the use of FRAX since it does not currently include important risk factors such as falls (97); recency of fracture, number of prior fractures, and biomarkers (97). The Garvan fracture risk calculator was created using the data from the Dubbo Osteoporosis Epidemiology Study (DOES) initiated in 1989 to calculate 5- and 10-year fracture probability nomograms were constructed using age, sex, body weight, history of prior fractures after age 50 years, history of falls in the previous 12 months, and femoral neck BMD (optional) (96). The QFractureScores was created using the largest prospective database for osteoporotic fracture prediction, more than 2 million women and men age 30-85 years from England and Wales (<u>96</u>). The QFractureScores estimates the probability of 1- and 10-year of any osteoporotic fracture (hip, wrist, spine, or humerus) and hip fracture risk using the numerous risk factors including age, sex, ethnicity, height, weight, smoking status, alcohol consumption, previous fracture, parental osteoporosis or hip fracture, living in a nursing or care home, history of falls, medical history and medication history. Both Garvan fracture risk calculator and QFractureScores are not used frequently in Canada.

Management guidelines, designed specifically according to each country's need, were developed to lessen osteoporosis-related fractures worldwide ($\underline{22}$, $\underline{100}$, $\underline{101}$). The goal of treatment is to decrease fracture risk and bone loss, and if applied to high-risk populations, can result in up to 60

% reductions in fracture risk (5, 97). It is important to consider that not all treatment options are appropriate for everybody, and each option has its risks, benefits, and limitations (97). Canadian clinical practice guidelines recommend initiating treatment in men and women who have sustained a hip or vertebral fracture or multiple fractures, in those who have a FRAX[®] score of \geq 20 % for a major osteoporotic fracture and in individuals with low BMD T-scores and other clinical risk factors such as use of anti-hormonal therapies, frequent falls and inflammatory conditions (21).

1.2.2 Lifestyle modification

Healthy bones necessitate having a balanced nutrition and adequate calcium and vitamin D intake, engaging in regular physical activity (resistance training exercises), and avoiding smoking and excessive alcohol consumption (100). A diet with sufficient micronutrients, including vitamin D (1000–2000 IU per day), calcium (1000–1300 mg per day), magnesium and vitamin K, has been linked to increased bone strength (2). Many older adults cannot reach target serum levels of vitamin D with diet alone (79): this can safely and inexpensively be treated with vitamin D supplements (<u>85, 102</u>).

Exercise is one of the few strategies can improve multiple fracture risk factors at any stage of life by maintaining bone structure through mechanical loading (100). Well-controlled supervised resistance and high-impact training exercises can improve multiple fall-related risk factors in older women (103). Resistance training programs are the most effective strategies to improve muscle strength and function, balance (104) and gait to reduce the risk of falling (87). Systematic reviews of trials of exercise or physical therapy found a 13 % reduction in the risk of falls (1, 102). Resistance exercises are effective both as a single intervention and as part of a multicomponent treatment (104). Considering the different mechanisms of action regarding medication and exercise on bone, it is reasonable to expect that combining exercise and medication could be more

effective in decreasing osteoporotic fracture risk than either alone ($\underline{78}$, $\underline{105}$). Smoking and alcohol are linked to reduction in bone density through different mechanisms. The decrease in bone density can be the result of smoking and alcohol itself or other risk factors associated with them ($\underline{2}$).

1.2.3 Pharmacologic therapy

A number pharmacologic options are available in Canada, both antiresorptive and anabolic agents and with a diverse dosing frequencies and routes of administration (22). All therapies available in Canada have been associated with reduction in the risk of vertebral fractures in menopausal women with osteoporosis, while some prevent hip and nonvertebral fractures. Generally, depending on the medication and the level of adherence, pharmacologic therapy reduces the risk of vertebral fracture by 30 % to 70 %.

Antiresorptive medications are the mainstay of fracture prevention (<u>106</u>) and include bisphosphonates (BPs), monoclonal antibody to receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand (RANKL), hormone therapy (HT), selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERMs), and calcitonin (<u>107</u>). Romozosumab and Teriparatide are two anabolic medications for osteoporosis treatment in Canada (<u>22</u>).

BISPHOSPHONATES (BPs) – Today, BPs are considered first-line therapy for osteoporosis, due to their low cost, ability to increase BMD and reduce osteoporosis-related fracture risk ($\underline{3}$, $\underline{12}$). The first bisphosphonate, alendronate, has been the most commonly used bisphosphonates since it became available in 1995 ($\underline{7}$). While bisphosphonates act similar, they are available in multiple formulations: oral tablets (alendronate, risedronate, and ibandronate), effervescent tablets (alendronate), combined with vitamin D (alendronate), immediate release or delayed release (risedronate), and intravenous injections (zoledronic acid and ibandronate). Bisphosphonates have been associated with the rare complications like osteonecrosis of the jaw (ONJ) and atypical femur fractures (AFF), and each formulation has its own specific adverse side effects; oral bisphosphonates are associated with upper gastrointestinal discomfort (including heartburn, indigestion, esophageal erosion, and esophageal ulcer), and IV bisphosphonates associated with acute phase injection reactions (fever, muscle aches). AFF and ONJ are associated with the cumulative exposure of the bisphosphonates and it is now recommended that duration of therapy be limited to 3 to 5 years, after which a drug holiday should be instituted. The concerns around AFF and ONJ have worsened the care gap in osteoporosis; clinicians and patients are less likely to initiate or continue therapy even in the presence of high fracture risk. Educational measures are being developed.

DENOSUMAB – Denosumab is a human monoclonal antibody indicated as first-line therapy for individuals at high risk for fractures, patients unable to tolerate oral therapy, women with breast cancer, and men with prostate cancer receiving androgen deprivation therapy. Denosumab is effective in increasing BMD at the lumbar spine and total hip, and decreasing the relative risk of vertebral fractures, nonvertebral fractures and hip fractures (12). Denosumab is available in a subcutaneous injectable formulation and is generally well tolerated. Adverse effects associated with denosumab are hypersensitivity, musculoskeletal pain, hypercholesterolemia, hypocalcemia (in patients with creatinine clearance < 30 mL/min), ONJ, and AFF (rare).

HORMONE THERAPY (HT), SELECTIVE ESTROGEN RECEPTOR MODULATOR

(SERMS) – Before the Women's Health Initiative (WHI – 1991), HT with estrogen-progesterone was the cornerstone of the pharmacological treatment of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Since WHI demonstrated that the estrogen-progestin combination was associated with an increased risk for cardiovascular events, stroke, venous thromboembolism, and invasive breast cancer, the use of HT in the treatment of osteoporosis became limited (12). The use of raloxifene is indicated

as the first-line therapy in women at risk of vertebral fracture only; however, it may also be used in women at risk for vertebral fractures and developing breast cancer, and in higher-risk patients during a bisphosphonate holiday. Despite raloxifene's benefits, it may cause vaginal bleeding, hot flashes, dyslipidemia, venous thromboembolism, stroke, and cardiovascular disease.

ROMOZOSUMAB – Romosozumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody that inhibits sclerostin in skeletal tissue (<u>12</u>). Romosozumab lower risk of new vertebral fracture up to 73%, and increase BMD at the lumbar spine, total hip, and femoral neck up to 13% (<u>12</u>). However, the use of Romosozumab for osteoporosis treatment is limited due to a higher rate of serious adverse cardiovascular events compared with other available medications.

PARATHYROID HORMONE ANALOGUES – Teriparatide is a recombinant human parathyroid hormone (PTH) analogue and is indicated as the initial treatment in postmenopausal women at high risk for fracture, and patients unable to take oral medications. Teriparatide result in an increase in vertebral, femoral, and total-body BMD and a reduction in the number of new vertebral and non-vertebral fractures (12). Due to the potential risk of osteosarcoma, teriparatide is contraindicated in patients with Paget's disease, unexplained alkaline phosphatase elevations, prior skeletal radiotherapy, primary or metastatic bone malignancy, and hypercalcemic disorders (e.g., primary hyperparathyroidism).

1.2.4 Treatment gap

Despite notable advances in our understanding of the pathogenesis and treatment of osteoporosis, and the availability of effective drugs to prevent fractures, there is evidence suggesting that many patients who should receive pharmacological therapy are either not prescribed these medications or if prescribed medication, refuse to take it (73, 108, 109). Overall, less than 30 % of patients with fractures are subsequently diagnosed with osteoporosis, and less than half of those receive
treatment (<u>110</u>). In many cases, in those in whom the treatment is started, adherence to the treatment in many cases is very low (20 %) after one year (<u>111</u>, <u>112</u>).

With the introduction of bisphosphonates in the 1990s, an increase in the number of patients using bisphosphonates was noted over time. However, since 2007-2008, a decline in bisphosphonate use was observed in the US and European countries (73), whether in individuals at high-risk for fracture or not. In a retrospective observational cohort study in the US, a decline in osteoporosis medication use from 40 % to 21 % in individuals with hip fracture between 2001 and 2011 has been reported (113). In a study using a commercial US insurance claims database of 97,169 people with incident hip fracture and mean age of 80.2 years (SD 10.8), initiation of osteoporosis medication declined from 9.8 % in 2004 to 3.3 % in 2015 (114).

Similar low treatment rates after a MOF have been documented in the Global Longitudinal Study of Osteoporosis in Women (GLOW; a prospective observational practice-based study in postmenopausal women from the US, Canada, Europe, and Australia) (<u>115</u>). In the first-year follow-up, among 1,075 women aged 55 years and older with an incident fracture, only 17 % had started with anti-osteoporosis medications, 15 % of participants with any single MOF and 35 % of those with multiple fractures.

Despite improvements in the treatment of osteoporosis in Canada, care gap exists in the management of osteoporosis and fragility fractures in both men and women. This gap was documented in the CaMos population (<u>116</u>, <u>117</u>). Among 5,566 women in CaMos, the percentage of women with fragility fractures who did not receive pharmacotherapy was 55-60 % during 10 years of follow up. In men the percentage of those with clinical fragility fracture who received bisphosphonates was very suboptimal, increased from 0.5 % to 9.5 % in 5 years. According to the recent PHAC findings, in 2014-2015 only less than one fifth of individuals with MOF received

an osteoporosis diagnosis, screened with by DXA or prescribed an anti-osteoporosis medication in the year following a fracture ($\underline{2}$).

Certain factors have been found to be associated with a reduced likelihood of being prescribed osteoporosis medication following a fracture and include older age and male sex; while prefracture use of anti-osteoporotic medication and calcium, prior diagnosis of osteoporosis, and site of fracture (spine fracture > multiple fractures > hip fracture) were strongly associated with medication use post-fracture (73, 115). The possible underlying causes for 'The Osteoporosis Treatment Gap' have been explored in the literature and found to be multifactorial; safety concerns about medication, misunderstanding of the benefit/risk ratio, inadequate access to appropriate investigation and treatment, and lack of structured post-fracture care (115) (73). The fear of rare, but serious, side effects of osteoporosis medication, particularly ONJ and AFF, highlight the need for improved education of health-care professionals and patients and clearer communication of the benefits and risks (114). Furthermore, osteoporosis is managed by many diverse specialties, which means there is a loss of clarity over who is responsible for the overall management of affected patients, and incomplete alignment of national and international guidelines, creates confusion in regards to the osteoporosis management plan.

Fracture Liaison Services (FLS), or specialized multidisciplinary care models, have been designed to improve the care gap in the management of osteoporosis and secondary fracture prevention (<u>114</u>, <u>118</u>).

<u>CHAPTER 2</u> RATIONALE & OBJECTIVES

2.1 Study rationale

Previously the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos) has provided invaluable insight in the epidemiology of osteoporosis and fractures among Canadians (54). CaMos was a population-based cohort study of 9,423 women and men recruited between 1995 and 1997 examining osteoporosis and fracture risk in community-dwelling Canadians. In CaMos, participants aged 25 years and older were recruited through random telephone numbers from within 50 km of nine study centers across Canada. Data collection included an in-person interviewer-administered questionnaire (IAQ), and physical measurements. CaMos found that Canadians from different geographic regions experienced different prevalence of osteoporosis and fractures, and this regional variation in the prevalence of osteoporosis (by BMD T-scores ≤ -2.5) was related to underlying differences in the distribution of BMD. In CaMos, regions with a high prevalence of men and women with BMD T-score ≤ -2.5 did not have a correspondingly high rate of fracture. The lowest mean total hip BMD (g/cm²) were in Quebec (men) and Halifax (women); whilst the highest age-standardized incidence of low-trauma fracture was in Calgary in men and women respectively. In CaMos, the consideration of clinical and individuals risk factors for fractures, in addition to BMD, increased the concordance between regions of high estimated risk with regions with high rates of fracture. CaMos concluded that the difference in fracture rates was not related to a specific factor but to a comprehensive assessment of fracture risk, including age, BMD, falls, prior fracture, and radiographic vertebral fractures.

However, CaMos baseline data were collected over twenty years ago. More recent studies have demonstrated that BMD and fractures rates have changed differently over time in many jurisdictions, and differently in men and women. A secular decline in fracture risk rates was reported in Europe and the US over the second half of the 20th century, while an increase in these

rates was detected in Asian countries such as Japan, China, Taiwan. It is unknown whether there have been any changes in BMD and fracture rates in Canada in the last 20 years, and if so, what variables are associated with these changes. With the introduction of treatment guidelines and pharmacological treatment options in recent years, it is worth exploring the care gap and whether individuals at high-risk for fractures receive appropriate osteoporosis management.

The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) is an ongoing longitudinal study in Canada started in 2012 to recognize and share determinants of healthy ageing in Canadians 45-85 years in two different cohorts: the tracking cohort and the comprehensive cohort (54). In the comprehensive cohort of CLSA, 14,777 men and 15,320 women were recruited using provincial health registries and random digit dialling sampling frames from a 25-50 km radius of the 11 data collection sites. Data was through a 90-minute face-to-face in-home interview and in-person visit for physical assessments at one of the CLSA data collection sites. The CLSA collected data can support nationwide examination of skeletal health such as physical performance measures, bone mineral density (BMD), vitamin D levels and other determinants.

2.2 Study objectives

The objectives of this study include:

- Compare age- and sex-specific BMD and prevalent fracture patterns at entry into the CaMos and the CLSA cohorts and determine whether different patterns have emerged over a 20-year period
- Compare vitamin D and calcium supplements and anti-osteoporosis medication use over time and determine how the treatment care gap has evolved in those at high-risk for fracture

 Describe sex-specific BMD and prevalent fracture patterns across geographical regions in Canada and explore the effect of different skeletal determinants on these outcomes.

CHAPTER 3

MANUSCRIPT 1: VARIATION IN BONE MINERAL DENSITY AND FRACTURES OVER 20 YEARS AMONG CANADIANS: A COMPARISON OF THE CANADIAN MULTICENTER OSTEOPOROSIS STUDY AND THE CANADIAN LONGITUDINAL STUDY ON AGING

Hassanabadi N^{1,2}, Berger C², Papaioannou A³, Cheung AM⁴, Rahme E^{1,2}, Leslie WD⁵, Goltzman D^{1,2}, Morin SN^{1,2}

Affiliations:

- ¹ Department of Medicine, McGill University,
- ² Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre,
- ³ Department of Medicine, McMaster University,
- ⁴ Department of Medicine, University of Toronto,
- ⁵ Department of Medicine, University of Manitoba

Word count Abstract: 287 words Number of references: 38 Number of tables: 2 Number of figures: 4 Supplementary material: 1

3.1 Abstract

Background: Data are lacking on the change in bone mineral density (BMD), fractures, and osteoporosis (OP) treatment in Canada over time.

Methods: We explored sex-specific differences in femoral neck BMD (FN-BMD), prevalent major osteoporotic fractures (MOF) in men and women 50-85 years from Canadian Multicenter Osteoporosis Study (CaMos, N=6,479; 1995-1997) and Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA, N=19,534; 2012-2015). We created linear and logistic regression models to compare femoral neck and fracture risk between cohorts, adjusting for age and other important covariates. Among participants with prevalent MOF, we compared the use of calcium and vitamin-D supplements (SUP), hormone therapy (HT), and bisphosphonates (BP).

Results: Mean (SD) age in CaMos (women 65.5 [8.5]; men 65.1 [8.7]) was higher than in CLSA (women 63.3 [9.0]; men 64.2 [9.1]). CaMos participants had lower mean height and BMI, and a higher prevalence of smoking than those of CLSA. Adjusted linear regression models (estimates; 95%CI) demonstrated lower FN-BMD (g/cm²) in CaMos women (-0.017; -0.021 to -0.014) and men (-0.006; -0.011 to 0.000), while adjusted Odds Ratios (95%CI) for prevalent MOF were higher in CaMos women (1.99; 1.71 to 2.30) and men (2.33; 1.82 to 3.00) compared to CLSA. In women with prevalent MOF, HT use was not different in CaMos vs CLSA (43.3% vs 37.9%), but SUP use (32.0% vs 48.3%) and BP use (5.8% vs 17.3%) were lower in CaMos participants. In men, comparisons yielded inconclusive results.

Conclusion: Higher BMD and lower risk of fractures were noted in the CLSA participants as compared to CaMos participants, even after adjusting for multiple covariates. We noted a concurrent improvement in anti-osteoporosis treatment, though the care gap remains particularly elevated in men.

Key words: Aging, Bone mineral density, CaMos, CLSA, Trend

3.2 Introduction

Osteoporosis, a chronic age-associated disease (1, 2), is characterized by an increased propensity to fracture caused by a loss of bone strength (3, 4). Osteoporosis-related fractures increase the likelihood of subsequent fractures and bring a substantial burden to the healthcare system (5) (6). As the population is aging, it is projected that by 2031, at least one in every four Canadians will be 65 or older (7), and as a result, age-associated diseases like osteoporosis are expected to also increase over time. The high prevalence of osteoporosis and the associated fractures make this condition a major public health issue.

During the past decades, international variations in osteoporosis and osteoporotic fracture rates have been reported, with temporal trends that differ between populations (8-10). In the US, the analysis of National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) data demonstrated that the prevalence of osteoporosis (T-score<-2.5) among people aged 50 years and older declined between 1988 and 2006, stabilized from 2005 to 2010, and then increased in 2014 (11-13). The mean bone mineral density (BMD) at the femoral neck among US men and women aged 30 years and older was stable for the first three NHANES cycles from 2005 to 2010, and significantly decreased after 2014 (11).

Hip fracture rates appeared to have plateaued or decreased in the last two decades in many developed countries, following a rise in preceding years; however, in the developing world, ageand sex-specific fracture rates are still rising (9). Decreasing trends in hip fracture rates were observed in North America, Europe, and Oceania, and increasing rates were detected in Asian countries such as Japan, China and Taiwan (14, 15). The prevalence of hip fractures in the elderly population from the NHANES cohort increased in both men and women from 1986-2005 to 2005-2010 (16, 17). Due to significant advances in osteoporosis management over the past 50 years, including the widespread availability of effective pharmacological therapies, osteoporosis is no longer considered an inevitable consequence of ageing (18, 19). Country-specific clinical guidelines have been developed worldwide and provide osteoporosis management guidance to reduce fracture risk (20-22).

The magnitude of change in BMD, fracture rates, and anti-osteoporosis care in the last decades amongst the general population in Canada is not well described. The Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos) (baseline 1995-97) and the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA, baseline 2012-15) are two large population-based longitudinal cohorts in Canada providing valuable information about skeletal health determinants of Canadians. Using baseline data from the CLSA and CaMos cohorts, we aimed to compare age- and sex-specific BMD, prevalent fracture patterns between the two cohorts separated by a 20 -year period, and to compare the use of vitamin D and calcium supplements and anti-osteoporosis medications between cohorts to determine how the treatment care gap has evolved in individuals at high-risk for fracture.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Data source and study population

This study was performed using the baseline data from the CaMos (23) and CLSA cohorts (24). CaMos is a longitudinal population-based cohort study of 6,539 women and 2,884 men who were recruited between 1995 and 1997 to examine osteoporosis and fracture risk in community-dwelling Canadians (23). Participants aged 25 years and older were recruited through a random telephonebased sampling frame from within 50 km of one of nine study centers (Vancouver in British Columbia; Calgary in Alberta; Saskatoon in Saskatchewan; Toronto, Hamilton, and Kingston in Ontario; Quebec City in Quebec; Halifax in Nova Scotia; and St John's in Newfoundland and Labrador). Data collection included an in-person interviewer-administered questionnaire, and physical measurements. Exclusion criteria were being unable to communicate in English, French, or Chinese, and institutionalized individuals.

CLSA is an ongoing longitudinal study in Canada started in 2012 to recognize determinants of healthy ageing in Canadian 45-85 years in two different cohorts: tracking cohort and comprehensive cohort; the latter constituting the study population of this analysis (24). In the CLSA comprehensive cohort, 14,777 men and 15,320 women were recruited using provincial health registries and random digit dialling sampling frames from 25-50 km radius of the 11 centers (Data Collection Site: Victoria, Vancouver, and Surrey in British Columbia; Calgary in Alberta; Winnipeg in Manitoba; Hamilton and Ottawa in Ontario; Montreal and Sherbrooke in Quebec; Halifax in Nova Scotia; St. John's in Newfoundland and Labrador). Data were collected through a 90-minute face to face in-home interview and in-person visit for physical assessments at one of the CLSA data centers. The exclusion criteria were being a resident of Northwest Territories, Nunavut, Yukon, or federal First Nations reserves, being a full-time member of the Canadian Armed Forces, living in institutions, inability to respond in English or French, and having cognitive impairment. Potential participants were evaluated for cognitive impairment through telephone screening tools designed specifically for the CLSA.

This study was conducted using baseline data of men and women aged 50 to 85 years from CaMos and CLSA (Supplemental Figure 3.1). We used the data of participants without missing BMD measurement as well as other covariates; including 4,608 women and 1,871 men from CaMos, and 9,583 women and 9,951 men from the comprehensive cohort in CLSA.

3.3.2 Variables

3.3.2.1 Bone mineral density

We used BMD measured at the femoral neck for this analysis. In CaMos, BMD was measured at baseline using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) from Hologic (7 centers), or Lunar manufacturers (2 centers). Machine calibration was done daily. Daily and weekly quality assurance tests were performed. Lunar data were converted into equivalent Hologic values by standard methods. Cross-calibration was performed across centres. More details regarding quality control have been published previously (25).

In CLSA, BMD measurements were done using Hologic densitometers at all centers (26). Appropriate quality control and cross-calibration of DXA machines were performed within and between centers using standard operating procedures. Local quality controls were done daily using a Spine Phantom (i.e. a tool for standardization and quality control in spinal bone mineral measurements (119)), and weekly using the Whole-Body Phantom. Once a year, cross-calibrations across all densitometers were done with the Gold Standard Traveling Phantoms.

In order to assess cross-calibration between CLSA and CaMos densitometers, we followed the International Society for Clinical Densitometry (ISCD) recommendation for the Least Significant Change (LSC) for quality assurance between the DXA Scanners used in both cohorts (27). In CaMos, since the comparisons of the measurements on the Hologic densitometers used in Quebec City were stable over time, no longitudinal corrections were ever required. Therefore, we used the CaMos spine phantom for cross-calibration purposes between the CaMos and CLSA densitometers. We scanned the CaMos phantom 30 times on each of two Hologic densitometers: the CaMos densitometer still in use in Quebec City and a CLSA densitometer located in Hamilton.

As the differences between densitometers were within the threshold limit of 1.5% (28), no adjustment was required.

3.3.2.2 Osteoporosis, fractures, and anti-osteoporosis

treatment

Osteoporosis was defined as the presence of a femoral neck T-score equal to -2.5 or less. We generated femoral neck BMD T-scores using the young normal values from the NHANES III BMD of white women 20-29 years old (29).

Fractures were defined as prevalent self-reported major osteoporotic fractures (MOF; hip, clinical spine, wrist and humerus) that occurred with low trauma (standing height or less) during adult life. In CaMos, we selected fractures that occurred after the age of 18 years, while in CLSA, the fracture variable was derived from the Osteoporosis (OST) module asking specifically for fractures occurring in adult life. We generated 10-year fracture risk probabilities for MOF and hip fractures using the femoral neck T score (NHANES III BMD of women 20-29 years old as per ISCD recommendations) and clinical risk factors using the Canadian FRAX® tool (29).

According to most clinical practice guidelines, pharmacotherapy is recommended in those at highrisk for fractures, including men and women with a prevalent MOF, a FRAX probability for MOF of ≥ 20 % over the next 10 years, or those with osteoporosis with a BMD T-score \leq -2.5 (20, 21, 30). We defined participants with any of these characteristics as being at high-risk for fracture and documented the proportion of men and women who appropriately received supplemental calcium, vitamin D and anti-osteoporosis medication to reduce fracture risk at entry into the cohorts.

3.3.2.3 Anthropometric measurements

In CaMos, weight (kg) and height (cm) were measured using portable scale and carpenter's ruler respectively during the DXA measurement visit or at the time of the interview if no DXA scans were scheduled. In CLSA, weight (kg) and height (cm) were measured twice using a 140-10 Healthweigh digital physician scale and Seca 213 stadiometer respectively (31, 32). We used the average of weight and height measurement in this study. For both cohorts, body mass index (BMI) was calculated by dividing the weight in kg by height (in metre) square.

3.3.2.4 Other variables

Other explanatory variables were selected based on literature review and their availability in both CaMos and CLSA datasets. The variables considered were ethnicity (white or other), level of education (holding or not at least a high school diploma), smoking (current smoker or non-smoker, as used in FRAX), alcohol consumption in the past 12 months divided in two categories (less than 3 servings /day or 3 or more servings/day). Vitamin D and calcium supplements intake on a regular basis as well as any use of glucocorticoids, bisphosphonates, raloxifene, and hormone therapy (women only), were derived from the Drugs and Medication questionnaire in CaMos and In-Home Questionnaire (Version 4.0) in CLSA. Of note, etidronate and alendronate were approved for the treatment of osteoporosis in 1995 (CaMos baseline) and risedronate in 2000 in Canada.

3.3.3 Statistical methods

All analyses were stratified by sex. The prevalence of osteoporosis and MOF was further stratified by age groups. Descriptive statistics were generated using means and standard deviations (SD) or medians and interquartile ranges (IQR), and frequency and percentages as appropriate. Standard tests (chi-square, student t-test and analysis of variance) were used to compare categorical and continuous variables between cohorts. Differences between cohorts were assessed by including the cohort membership (CaMos vs. CLSA) as an independent variable in regression models. Linear regression models were created to estimate the differences in femoral neck BMD between cohorts using CLSA as the reference. We first created unadjusted linear models looking at the association of femoral neck BMD with cohort membership. Multiple linear regression models were then fit with each covariable. The covariables meeting statistically significance (p<0.05) were included in the fully adjusted models. Age, BMI and height were included in the fully adjusted linear models regardless of significance. Logistic regressions were used to examine the associations of the cohort membership with MOF. Similar strategy as above was applied. We further adjusted the final model with femoral neck BMD.

Since the CLSA is known to have participants with a higher education level than the Canadian population (24), we studied the effect of education on the prevalence of osteoporosis in both cohorts. To do so, we used logistic regressions for the prevalence of osteoporosis stratified by sex and age groups, looking at cohort, post-secondary education (yes/no) and the interaction of cohort with post-secondary education. Sensitivity analyses were done using data from participants of White ancestry only.

All statistical analyses were performed using statistical R software (Version 1.2.5033© 2009-2019 RStudio, Inc). A 2-sided p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Baseline characteristics

The total number of eligible participants from both cohorts was 26,013 (CaMos: 4,608 women and 1,871 men; CLSA: 9,583 women and 9,951 men) (Supplemental Figure 3.1), and their characteristics are shown in Table 3.1. In general, participants from CaMos were older (mean [SD] age in CaMos: women; 65.5 [8.5] and men; 65.1 [8.7]) than participants from CLSA (women; 63.3

[9.0] and men; 64.2 [9.1]). They also had lower mean height, weight, and BMI than those from CLSA. The prevalence of current smokers in CaMos was significantly higher in both women (13.5% vs 7.0%) and men (15.8% vs 8.5%). The percentage of women and men with post-secondary education was lower in CaMos than CLSA. Individuals who self-identified as White constituted over 92% of both cohorts.

3.4.2 Osteoporosis and bone mineral density

Prevalence of osteoporosis are presented by sex and age groups in Figure 3.1. In all sex and age group categories, the prevalence of osteoporosis was significantly higher in CaMos compared to CLSA with differences between cohorts in women ranging from 2.3% (50-64 years) to 16.1% (75-85 years) and in men from 0.3% (50-65 years) to 4.6% (75-85 years). The logistic regression models for the prevalence of osteoporosis showed that the interactions between cohort and education were not significant in women for all age groups (data not shown). Because of the smaller sample size in CaMos men, we could only look at the interaction between cohort and postsecondary education in men 75-85 years old, which was not significant. Therefore, we did not further stratify our results by education level.

Participants from CaMos had significantly lower mean (SD) femoral neck T-score (women; -1.4 [1.0], men; -0.6 [1.0]) than CLSA (women; -1.1 [1.0], men; -0.4 [1.0]). As expected, unadjusted estimates (95% CI) for femoral neck BMD were lower in CaMos in both women (-0.032 g/cm² [-0.036; -0.028]) and men (-0.024 g/cm² [-0.030; -0.018]) than CLSA (Figure 2). Adjusting for age, BMI, height, and other important covariates decreased the differences between the cohorts. However, estimates remained significantly lower in CaMos women (-0.017 g/cm² [-0.021; -0.014]) and men (-0.006 g/cm² [-0.011; 0.000]), compared to CLSA.

3.4.3 Major osteoporosis fracture

The prevalence of MOF by sex and age groups are presented in Figure 3.1. In all sex and age groups, the prevalence of MOF was higher among CaMos participants compared to CLSA except for men aged 75-85 years where there was no statistical difference.

Unadjusted Odds Ratios (OR, 95% CI) for prevalent MOF were significantly higher in women and men from CaMos compared to CLSA (Figure 3.3). After adjusting for covariates, ORs for prevalent MOF remained significantly higher in CaMos than CLSA in both women (OR 1.99 [1.71, 2.30]) and in men (OR 2.33 [1.82, 3.00]).

As sensitivity analyses, the regression models on BMD and fractures were performed on participants of white ancestry only. Results were similar to previous findings in both the linear regression for BMD and logistic regression for fractures.

3.4.4 Anti-osteoporosis treatment use in participants at high-

risk for fracture

The proportion of participants at high-risk for fractures was higher in CaMos than CLSA in both women and men, except for men in whom there was no difference between groups when defined based on a high FRAX probability (Table 3.2). As can be seen in Figure 3.4, in women, use of supplements and bisphosphonates was significantly lower in CaMos for every category of high-risk definition. Overall, the use of hormone therapy did not differ between women from CaMos (35.6%) compared to CLSA (37.4%) at high-risk for fractures (either categories). In men, the comparisons of supplements and anti-osteoporosis treatment use were inconclusive, mainly due to the small number of men at high-risk for fractures.

3.5 Discussion

We have documented higher BMD values and lower risks of fractures in the CLSA participants compared to the participants of CaMos, recruited 20 years apart, even after adjusting for important covariates. This is in agreement with reports from other developed countries where BMD has increased and fracture rates have decreased over the last decades. We also noted improvement in anti-osteoporosis treatment over time in high-risk for fractures, nevertheless, the care gap remains elevated, specifically in men.

Changes over time in BMD measurements are also documented in many countries. In a study examining BMD in older US adults between 2005 and 2014 from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, there was some evidence of a decline in femur neck BMD between 2005-2006 and 2013-2014, but not in lumbar spine BMD. Changes in the risk factors that could be examined, such as BMI, smoking, milk intake, did not explain the femur neck BMD trends (12). In Canada, a significant annual linear increase of 0.52% in BMD at the femoral neck was documented using the large Manitoba BMD registry data of women aged 50 years and older from 1996-2006 (33). The temporal increases in BMI, obesity, and osteoporosis treatment did not explain these changes. We noted that BMD was higher in the CLSA participants as compared to the CaMos cohort, supporting an improvement in bone mass in Canadians over a 20- year period. Although we also documented that age, height, BMI, smoking, alcohol consumption, level of education, supplement and anti-osteoporosis medication use were different between cohorts, adjusting for these variables did not explain the differences between cohorts.

Secular changes in major osteoporotic fractures have been documented previously in various countries. The overall incident rate of fragility fractures has been predicted to increase in many countries (18, 34), mainly due to the impending aging trajectory (8). However, the trends in osteoporotic fracture rates had been reported to differ between population depending on the

fracture site. In Denmark, data from 1995 to 2010 showed a general decline in the incidence rate of major osteoporotic fractures in both men and women 50+ adults (8). Similarly, the trend in Italy from 2007 to 2014 revealed an overall decline in the incidence rate of hip fractures in older women (34). In the US, Medicare and the National Inpatient Survey data indicated a decline in hip fracture incidence between 1985 and 2012 (12). A recent study using the UK Clinical Practice Research Datalink with a 20-year follow-up time (1990–2012) revealed stable overall sex-specific fracture incidence, though this varied by fracture sites with radius-ulna fracture becoming less frequent in women and hip fractures rising in men. (35). We found that the prevalence of major osteoporotic fractures in both women and men, except in men aged 75-85 years, were lower in CLSA compared to CaMos. These results were consistent with the data from the study of the Manitoba BMD registry of women aged 50 years and older, which documented a decline in major osteoporotic fractures from 1996-2006, attributed to a secular increase in BMD, rather than changes in anti-osteoporosis treatment or in BMI (33). It was also recently demonstrated using Canadian national administrative data, that the age-standardized annual hip and forearm fracture rates decreased, humeral fracture rates relatively stabilized, and spine fracture rates increased over the study period 2000–01 to 2015-16 (2). The basis for the stabilization and often reduction in fracture rates in industrialized countries remains uncertain. Although an improvement in BMD has been considered as the major factor contributing to reductions in osteoporotic fracture rates (33), other factors like greater rates of osteoporosis treatment, change in lifestyle, introduction of new anti-osteoporosis medication (bisphosphonates), increasing prevalence of obesity, and alterations in tobacco consumption might also contribute (6, 18). Period and birth cohort effects have been studied in a nationwide hip fracture study in Sweden and Denmark and found to have an impact on fracture rates (36). In general, population health indices and life expectancy at birth in developed countries have improved, and access to healthcare throughout the lifespan has expanded over many decades. Over the past half-century, there have been rapid and marked advancements in pharmacological interventions for osteoporosis (37). However, evidence suggests that only a minority of patients at high-risk for fractures receive screening or treatment known to reduce fracture risk (38).

We documented that there have been improvements in anti-osteoporosis pharmacotherapy in women in the last 2 decades. The introduction of bisphosphonate and clinical practice guidelines after the CaMos baseline (1995-1997) could possibly explain this improvement since etidronate and alendronate were approved for the treatment of osteoporosis in 1995 and risedronate in 2000. However, the care gap (discrepancy between the provided and recommended treatment) is still remarkably high. Regardless of the definition of the high-risk category, only about 20% of CLSA women at high-risk for fracture were being treated with bisphosphonates. This was similar to the findings PHAC report where less than 20% of Canadians with MOF received an osteoporosis diagnosis, underwent a BMD test or received a prescription for an osteoporosis-related medication (2). Our sample number of men at high-risk for fracture prevented us from adequately comparing both cohorts. Nevertheless, our results support the previous evidence that there is a larger care gap in men than in women.

The main strengths of this study include the large sample size and comprehensiveness of CaMos and CLSA. The quality control of densitometers within and between cohorts and similar ascertainment of bone health outcomes are other strengths. Also, both cohorts had similar ethnic admixtures, with the majority of their participants with white ethnic backgrounds, which allowed us to compare cohorts directly. There are some limitations in this study. The CLSA was designed to study healthy aging, while CaMos was designed to study osteoporosis. The difference in the design and objectives of these two studies may have affected participants' characteristics and results may be subject to selection and healthy participant biases. Individuals with prevalent fractures or osteoporosis might have been more likely to participate in CaMos than healthy adults, while the CLSA may have been more attractive to healthy adults. Even though we could adjust for multiple factors, selection bias remains a concern and our results should be interpreted with this limitation in mind. This analysis was performed on CaMos and CLSA participants, regardless of the participant's ethnic/racial background. To control for the possible effect of ethnicity/race on bone mineral density and prevalent fractures rates, a sensitivity analysis using data of participants of white ancestry was performed. Finally, as similar sampling weights did not exist for both cohorts, the sampling weights could not be applied. To compensate for the difference in sampling strategy between both cohorts, we presented the prevalence by sex and age groups.

In conclusion, higher BMD values and lower risk of fractures were noted in the CLSA participants 50 years and older as compared to the participants of CaMos. An improvement in anti-osteoporosis treatment was noted over a 20-year period in women at high-risk for fracture and may provide some insight into the improvement in BMD and fractures over time. The care gap, however, remains high, particularly in men.

Data availability statement

The datasets generated for this article were generated by the Canadian Longitudinal Study of Aging; researchers apply for data access by following the procedure outlined here: *www.clsa-elcv.ca*. Questions regarding access the datasets should be directed to *ac.vcle-aslc@ssecca*.

3.6 Ethics approval

This study was approved by the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre (RI-MUHC) Research Ethics Board (Ethics Certificate No. 2019-4926).

3.7 Acknowledgements

This research was made possible using the data/biospecimens collected by the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Funding for the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

(CLSA) is provided by the Government of Canada through the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) under grant reference: LSA 94473 and the Canada Foundation for Innovation. This research has been conducted using the CLSA dataset [v4.0 and weights v1.2], under Application Number 180909. The CLSA is led by Drs. Parminder Raina, Christina Wolfson and Susan Kirkland.

The opinions expressed in this manuscript are the author's own and do not reflect the views of the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging.

This research was also made possible through the support of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Catalyst Grant: Analysis of CLSA Data (2019). S N Morin is a scholar of the Fonds de Recherche du Québec – santé (FRQS). This research was also made possible through the support of réseau de recherche en santé buccodentaire et osseuse (RSBO).

3.8 Authors' contributions

SNM conceived the study and secured funding for this study. NH and CB conducted the data analysis and drafted the initial manuscript supervised by SNM. AP, AMC, ER, WDL and DG helped with results interpretation, and gave critical feedback on the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript.

3.9 Conflicts of interest

Authors report no conflict of interest.

3.10 Tables

Table 3.1	Baseline	characteristics	by	cohort
-----------	----------	-----------------	----	--------

	Women		Men	
	CaMos	CLSA	CaMos	CLSA
	(n=4,608)	(n=9,583)	(n=1,871)	(n=9,951)
Age (years) - Mean (SD)	65.5 (8.5)	63.3 (9.0)	65.1 (8.7)	64.2 (9.1)
Height (cm) - Mean (SD)	159.4 (6.3)	161.6 (6.5)	173.0 (6.9)	175.3 (7.0)
Weight (kg) - Mean (SD)	69.0 (13.4)	72.5 (15.7)	81.8 (13.2)	86.9 (15.4)
Body mass index (kg/m ²)- Mean (SD)	27.1 (5.0)	27.8 (5.8)	27.3 (3.8)	28.2 (4.5)
Smoking (current) - N (%)	620 (13.5)	674 (7.0)	296 (15.8)	848 (8.5)
Alcohol (>= 3 drink/day) - N (%)	42 (0.9)	305 (3.2)	131 (7.0)	898 (9.0)
Ethnicity (White) - N (%)	4433 (96.2)	8889 (92.8)	1757 (93.9)	9241 (92.9)
Postsecondary degree - N (%)	2038 (44.2)	7343 (76.6)	965 (51.6)	7978 (80.2)
Calcium supplement use (past month)- N (%)	2216 (48.1)	4203 (43.9)	486 (26.0)	1513 (15.2)
Vitamin D supplement use (past month)- N (%)	1614 (35.0)	5982 (62.4)	419 (22.4)	3811 (38.3)
Bisphosphonate use- N (%)	110 (2.4)	582 (6.1)	3 (0.2)	103 (1.0)
Hormone therapy use (ever) - N (%)	2231 (48.4)	3212 (33.5)	-	-
FRAX probability for MOF (%) - Mean (SD)	10.6 (7.5)	9.7 (6.6)	5.4 (3.1)	5.5 (3.1)
FRAX probability for hip fracture (%) - Mean (SD)	2.6 (4.7)	1.8 (3.6)	1.2 (2.0)	1.1 (1.8)
Femoral Neck BMD (g/cm ²) - Mean (SD)	0.691(0.119)	0.723(0.114)	0.791(0.125)	0.816(0.125)
Prevalent MOF - N (%)	503 (10.9)	594 (6.2)	103 (5.5)	266 (2.7)
Prevalent Any fracture - N (%)	1158 (25.1)	1855 (19.4)	355 (19.0)	1113 (11.2)
Osteoporosis (T-Score ≤ -2.5 at femoral neck) - N (%)	562 (12.2)	478 (5.0)	38 (2.0)	87 (0.9)

In **bold:** statistically significant differences (P Value ≤ 0.05 in ANOVA and Chi-squared test) by cohorts * Calculated with BMD

**Calculated using NHANESIII data for women

Non-weighted results

Table 3.2. CaMos and CLSA participants with baseline characteristics that meet the definition of

high-risk for fracture

	Women		Men	
	CaMos (n=4,608)	CLSA (n=9,583)	CaMos (n=1,871)	CLSA (n=9,951)
FRAX probability for MOF ≥ 20% - N (%)	430 (9.3)	684 (7.1)	12 (0.6)	44 (0.4)
With prevalent MOF - N (%)	503 (10.9)	594 (6.2)	103 (5.5)	266 (2.7)
Osteoporosis (T-Score ≤ -2.5 at femoral neck) - N (%)	562 (12.2)	478 (5.0)	38 (2.0)	87 (0.9)
High-risk for fracture – either of the following: FRAX probability for MOF ≥ 20% With prevalent MOF Osteoporosis (T-Score ≤ -2.5 at femoral neck)	562 (12.2)	478 (5.0)	38 (2.0)	87 (0.9)

In **bold**: statistically significant differences (P Value ≤ 0.05 in Chi-squared test) by cohorts Non-weighted results

MOF: low trauma fractures of the hip, clinical spine, wrist and humerus

3.11 Figures



Figure 3.1. Prevalence of osteoporosis and major osteoporotic fractures (MOF) (%, CI) by sex

A. Women

and age group

* Statistically significant by cohort (P<0.05)

Osteoporosis: defined as femoral neck T-score \leq -2.5

MOF: low trauma fractures of the hip, clinical spine, wrist and humerus



B. Men

* Statistically significant by cohort (P<0.05)

Osteoporosis: defined as femoral neck T-score \leq -2.5

MOF: low trauma fractures of the hip, clinical spine, wrist and humerus

Figure 3.2. Unadjusted and adjusted femoral neck bone mineral density (BMD) estimates (95% CI) for cohort membership – CaMos vs. CLSA (reference)



Grey triangle (adjusted model in women): adjusted for age, BMI, height, smoking, calcium and vitamin D supplement, corticosteroid, bisphosphonates, raloxifene, hormone therapy

Solid triangle (adjusted model in men): adjusted for age, BMI, height, smoking, calcium supplement, corticosteroid, bisphosphonates

All associations were statistically significant (P<0.05). Non-weighted results.

Figure 3.3. Unadjusted and adjusted Odds Ratios (95% CI) for major osteoporotic fractures

(MOF) according to cohort membership - CaMos vs. CLSA (reference)



Grey triangle (adjusted model in women): adjusted for age, BMI, height, calcium and vitamin D supplement, corticosteroid, bisphosphonates, BMD at femoral neck, education, alcohol, ethnicity

Solid triangle (adjusted model in men): adjusted for age, BMI, height, calcium supplement, bisphosphonates, BMD at femoral neck, education

All associations were statistically significant (P<0.05). Non-weighted results.

Figure 3.4. Anti-osteoporosis treatment use (%, CI) in participants at high-risk for fracture



A. Women

SUPP: supplement (calcium and vitamin D); BP (bisphosphonates); HT (hormone therapy) T-score at femoral neck, Non-weighted results

* Statistically significant comparisons between CLSA and CaMos (P Value ≤ 0.05 in Chi-squared test)



A. Men

SUPP: supplement (calcium and vitamin D); BP (bisphosphonates);

T-score at femoral neck, Non-weighted results

All comparisons between CLSA and CaMos were <u>not</u> statistically significant (P Value ≥ 0.05 in Chi-squared test)

3.12 Supplemental Material

Supplemental Figure 3.1. Study design and population



* BMD at femoral neck

3.13 References

1. Inoue T, Maeda K, Nagano A, Shimizu A, Ueshima J, Murotani K, et al. Related Factors and Clinical Outcomes of Osteosarcopenia: A Narrative Review. Nutrients. 2021;13(2).

2. Canada PHAo. Osteoporosis and related fractures in Canada: Report from the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System 2020. Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada: Research, Policy and Practice. 2021;41(2):68.

3. Richards JB, Leslie WD, Joseph L, Siminoski K, Hanley DA, Adachi JD, et al. Changes to osteoporosis prevalence according to method of risk assessment. J Bone Miner Res.

2007;22(2):228-34.

4. Yang K, Miao H, Zhao R, Wu X, Liu B, Zheng S, et al. Association between serum uric acid and bone mineral density in patients with type 2 diabetes: A 6-year longitudinal study in China. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100(17):e25733.

5. Leslie WD, Yan L, Lix LM, Morin SN. Time dependency in early major osteoporotic and hip re-fractures in women and men aged 50 years and older: a population-based observational study. Osteoporos Int. 2022;33(1):39-46.

6. Leslie WD, Morin SN. Osteoporosis epidemiology 2013: implications for diagnosis, risk assessment, and treatment. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2014;26(4):440-6.

Raina P WC, Kirkland S, Griffith L. The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA)
 Report on Health and Aging in Canada.

8. Abtahi S, Driessen JHM, Vestergaard P, van den Bergh J, Boonen A, de Vries F, et al. Secular trends in major osteoporotic fractures among 50+ adults in Denmark between 1995 and 2010. Arch Osteoporos. 2018;13(1):91.

 Cooper C, Cole ZA, Holroyd CR, Earl SC, Harvey NC, Dennison EM, et al. Secular trends in the incidence of hip and other osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int. 2011;22(5):1277-88.

10. Morin SN, Lix LM, Majumdar SR, Leslie WD. Temporal trends in the incidence of osteoporotic fractures. Curr Osteoporos Rep. 2013;11(4):263-9.

11. Xu Y, Wu Q. Decreasing trend of bone mineral density in US multiethnic population: analysis of continuous NHANES 2005-2014. Osteoporos Int. 2018;29(11):2437-46.

 Looker AC, Sarafrazi Isfahani N, Fan B, Shepherd JA. Trends in osteoporosis and low bone mass in older US adults, 2005-2006 through 2013-2014. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28(6):1979-88.

13. Looker AC, Melton LJ, 3rd, Harris TB, Borrud LG, Shepherd JA. Prevalence and trends in low femur bone density among older US adults: NHANES 2005-2006 compared with NHANES III. J Bone Miner Res. 2010;25(1):64-71.

Arias LH, Treceno C, Garcia-Ortega P, Rodriguez-Paredes J, Escudero A, Sainz M, et al.
Hip fracture rates and bisphosphonate consumption in Spain. An ecologic study. Eur J Clin
Pharmacol. 2013;69(3):559-64.

15. Cauley JA, Chalhoub D, Kassem AM, Fuleihan Gel H. Geographic and ethnic disparities in osteoporotic fractures. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10(6):338-51.

16. Brauer CA, Coca-Perraillon M, Cutler DM, Rosen AB. Incidence and mortality of hip fractures in the United States. JAMA. 2009;302(14):1573-9.

Zhang YW, Lu PP, Li YJ, Dai GC, Chen MH, Zhao YK, et al. Prevalence,
 Characteristics, and Associated Risk Factors of the Elderly with Hip Fractures: A Cross Sectional Analysis of NHANES 2005-2010. Clin Interv Aging. 2021;16:177-85.

18. Clynes MA, Harvey NC, Curtis EM, Fuggle NR, Dennison EM, Cooper C. The epidemiology of osteoporosis. Br Med Bull. 2020;133(1):105-17.

 Senay A, Delisle J, Raynauld JP, Morin SN, Fernandes JC. Agreement between physicians' and nurses' clinical decisions for the management of the fracture liaison service (4iFLS): the Lucky Bone program. Osteoporos Int. 2016;27(4):1569-76.

20. Papaioannou A, Morin S, Cheung AM, Atkinson S, Brown JP, Feldman S, et al. 2010 clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in Canada: summary. CMAJ. 2010;182(17):1864-73.

21. Cosman F, de Beur SJ, LeBoff MS, Lewiecki EM, Tanner B, Randall S, et al. Clinician's Guide to Prevention and Treatment of Osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int. 2014;25(10):2359-81.

22. Kanis JA, Cooper C, Rizzoli R, Reginster JY, Scientific Advisory Board of the European Society for C, Economic Aspects of O, et al. European guidance for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int. 2019;30(1):3-44.

23. Kreiger N, Tenenhouse A, Joseph L, Mackenzie T, Poliquin S, Brown JP, et al. Research Notes: The Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos): Background, Rationale, Methods. Canadian Journal on Aging / La Revue canadienne du vieillissement. 2010;18(3):376-87.

24. Raina P, Wolfson C, Kirkland S, Griffith LE, Balion C, Cossette B, et al. Cohort Profile: The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Int J Epidemiol. 2019;48(6):1752-3j.

25. Berger C, Goltzman D, Langsetmo L, Joseph L, Jackson S, Kreiger N, et al. Peak bone mass from longitudinal data: implications for the prevalence, pathophysiology, and diagnosis of osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res. 2010;25(9):1948-57.

26. CLSA. Dual-energy X-ray Absorption (DXA) SOP – Calibration (Quality Assurance) and Maintenance. 2017(SOP DCS 0043):9.

27. Jankowski LG, Warner S, Gaither K, Lenchik L, Fan B, Lu Y, et al. Cross-calibration, Least Significant Change and Quality Assurance in Multiple Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry Scanner Environments: 2019 ISCD Official Position. J Clin Densitom. 2019;22(4):472-83.

 Hangartner TN. A study of the long-term precision of dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry bone densitometers and implications for the validity of the least-significant-change calculation.
 Osteoporos Int. 2007;18(4):513-23.

29. Watts NB, Leslie WD, Foldes AJ, Miller PD. 2013 International Society for Clinical Densitometry Position Development Conference: Task Force on Normative Databases. Journal of clinical densitometry : the official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry. 2013;16(4):472-81.

30. Compston J, Cooper A, Cooper C, Gittoes N, Gregson C, Harvey N, et al. UK clinical guideline for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. Arch Osteoporos. 2017;12(1):43.

CLSA. Standing Height and Weight Measurement, Standard Operating Procedure. 2016.
 Report No.: SOP_DCS_0006.

32. Raina P WC, Kirkland S. CANADIAN LONGITUDINAL STUDY ON AGING (CLSA)Full protocol.

33. Leslie WD, Lix LM, Yogendran MS, Morin SN, Metge CJ, Majumdar SR. Temporal trends in obesity, osteoporosis treatment, bone mineral density, and fracture rates: a population-based historical cohort study. J Bone Miner Res. 2014;29(4):952-9.

34. Zhang J, Dennison E, Prieto-Alhambra D. Osteoporosis epidemiology using international cohorts. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2020;32(4):387-93.

35. van der Velde RY, Wyers CE, Curtis EM, Geusens P, van den Bergh JPW, de Vries F, et al. Secular trends in fracture incidence in the UK between 1990 and 2012. Osteoporos Int. 2016;27(11):3197-206.

36. Rosengren BE, Bjork J, Cooper C, Abrahamsen B. Recent hip fracture trends in Sweden and Denmark with age-period-cohort effects. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28(1):139-49.

37. Hernlund E, Svedbom A, Ivergard M, Compston J, Cooper C, Stenmark J, et al.
Osteoporosis in the European Union: medical management, epidemiology and economic burden.
A report prepared in collaboration with the International Osteoporosis Foundation (IOF) and the
European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations (EFPIA). Arch Osteoporos.
2013;8:136.

38. Khosla S, Cauley JA, Compston J, Kiel DP, Rosen C, Saag KG, et al. Addressing the Crisis in the Treatment of Osteoporosis: A Path Forward. J Bone Miner Res. 2017;32(3):424-30.

CHAPTER 4 BRIDGING

In previous chapter, the study was conducted with the objectives of comparing age- and sexspecific bone mineral density (BMD), prevalent fracture, and anti-osteoporosis medications between the CaMos and the CLSA cohorts to see whether different patterns have emerged over a 20-year period. We documented higher BMD values and lower risks of fractures in the CLSA participants 50 years and older compared to the participants of CaMos. We also noted improvement in anti-osteoporosis treatment in women at high-risk for fractures; nevertheless, the care gap remains elevated, specifically in men over the same period.

CaMos previously has found that Canadians from different geographic regions experienced the different prevalence of osteoporosis and fractures, and this regional variation in the prevalence of osteoporosis was related to underlying differences in the distribution of BMD. It is unclear if these variances in the prevalence of osteoporosis and fractures across Canada persist and whether they can be explained by differences in clinical risk factors such as falls, physical function or vitamin D status; factors not ascertained systematically in the CaMos cohort. In the next chapter, we conducted our project with the objective of comparing sex-specific BMD and prevalent fracture patterns across geographical regions in Canada and exploring the effect of different skeletal determinants on these outcomes.

CHAPTER 5

MANUSCRIPT 2: GEOGRAPHIC VARIATION IN BONE MINERAL DENSITY AND PREVALENT FRACTURES IN CANADIAN LONGITUDINAL STUDY ON AGING

Hassanabadi N^{1,2}, Berger C², Papaioannou A³, Cheung AM⁴, Rahme E^{1,2}, Leslie WD⁵, Goltzman D^{1,2}, Morin SN^{1,2}

Affiliations:

¹ Department of Medicine, McGill University

² Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre

³ Department of Medicine, McMaster University

⁴ Department of Medicine, University of Toronto

⁵ Department of Medicine, University of Manitoba

Word count abstract: 284 words Number of references: 49 Number of tables: 4 Number of figures: 3

5.1 Abstract

Background: The prevalence of osteoporosis and fractures differs across countries and regions. We aimed to describe sex-specific total hip bone mineral density (BMD), and prevalent major osteoporotic fractures (MOF) variations between Canadian provinces.

Methods: We used baseline data of 21,227 Canadians (10,716 women, 10,511 men) aged 50 years and older participating in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (2012-2015). Linear and logistic regression models were used to examine associations between the province of residence and total hip BMD, and self-reported MOF, stratified by sex and adjusted for important covariates. **Results:** The mean (SD) age of participants was 63.9 (9.1) and it did not differ between provinces. The mean Body Mass Index (BMI; kg/m²) was lowest in British Columbia (BC; 27.4 [5.0]) and highest in Newfoundland and Labrador (NL; 28.8 [5.3]). Women and men from BC had the lowest mean total hip BMD (g/cm²), and the lowest prevalence of MOF. Alberta (AB) (12.0%) had the highest proportion of participants reporting recent falls, while Manitoba (MB; 8.4%) had the fewest. Linear regression demonstrated significant differences in total hip BMD; women and men from BC and AB, and women from MB and Nova Scotia (NS) had lower, while men from NS had higher adjusted total hip BMD than ON. Adjusted Odds Ratios (95% confidence intervals) for prevalent MOF were significantly lower in BC women (0.50; 0.37-0.69) and men (0.35; 0.22-0.57) compared to ON. Results were similar when restricting the analyses to participants who claimed White race/ethnicity.

Conclusion: Geographical variations in total hip BMD and the prevalence of MOF between provinces persisted after adjusting for important covariates. These observed variations are likely associated with unmeasured individual, social and environmental factors.

Keywords: osteoporosis, bone mineral density, fracture, CLSA, Canada
5.2 Introduction

The population is aging worldwide; globally, the number of individuals 65 years and older has increased from 6% in 1990 to 9% in 2019. (1). As the population is aging, the number of older adults with chronic diseases such as osteoporosis is expected to increase (2, 3). Osteoporosis, a common and major public health concern (3, 4), is characterized by chronic deterioration of bone architecture which increases bone fragility and predisposes to fractures (5-8). Fragility fractures bring a substantial burden to the healthcare system, individuals, and society (9); decrease independence and cause long-term disability (6, 7, 10-13).

The risk of osteoporosis and fractures varies worldwide by geographic location, sex, race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status (14, 15). Worldwide, the highest rates of hip fractures were documented in the US and Northern Europe (Sweden and Norway) (16). The International Osteoporosis Foundation (IOF) and the European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations (EFPIA) have reported the prevalence of osteoporosis (defined as a T-score \leq -2.5 at the femoral neck on bone mineral density [BMD]) in adults 50 years and older to vary within the European Union, with Germany having the highest percentage of individuals with osteoporosis (17). Within country geographical difference in BMD and osteoporosis was previously documented in other countries including US (18), Mexico (19), and Canada (20).

The Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos, 1995-1997) demonstrated that Canadians from different geographic regions experience different rates of fractures and prevalence of osteoporosis (20). The lowest mean BMD (measured at the total hip) was documented in men in Quebec and in women in Nova Scotia, while the highest rates of fracture were in Ontario and the lowest in Quebec (20). It is unclear if these variances in the prevalence of osteoporosis and fractures across Canada persist, and whether they can be explained by differences in clinical risk factors such as falls, physical function or vitamin D status; factors not ascertained systematically in the CaMos cohort.

The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) is an ongoing large population-based longitudinal cohort that aims to study determinants of healthy aging and has obtained a vast array of information on its fifty-one thousand participants. Using baseline data from CLSA (2012-2015), our objectives were to describe sex-specific BMD, and prevalence of osteoporosis and of major osteoporotic fractures (MOF) in Canadians across provinces, and to determine if physical performance measures were associated with these outcomes.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Data source and study population

Between 2012 and 2015, 30,097 women and men between the age of 45 and 85 were recruited in the CLSA comprehensive cohort. This cohort was recruited using provincial health registries and random digit dialing sampling frames. The inclusion criteria were age between 45-85 years and living within 25-50 km radius of the 11 data collection sites (Victoria, Vancouver, and Surrey in British Columbia; Calgary in Alberta; Winnipeg in Manitoba; Hamilton and Ottawa in Ontario; Montreal and Sherbrooke in Quebec; Halifax in Nova Scotia; St. John's in Newfoundland and Labrador). Data were acquired through a face-to-face in-home interview and in-person visit for physical assessments. Residents of the Canadian territories (Northwest, Nunavut, and Yukon), residing in federal First Nations reserves, full-time member of the Canadian Armed Forces, living in institutions, unable to respond in English or French, or those having cognitive impairment were excluded. Signed informed consent was obtained from every study participant. Ethics approval for the present study was granted through the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre (2019-4926). For this analysis, we included 21,227 participants (10,716 women and 10,511 men) aged 50 to 85 years with a valid BMD measurement at the total hip (Figure 4.1).

5.3.2 Variables

5.3.2.1 Geographical regions

The exposure variable was geographical region defined as the participants' province of recruitment (proxy for residence) of British Columbia (BC), Alberta (AB), Manitoba (MB), Ontario (ON), Quebec (QC), Nova Scotia (NS), and Newfoundland and Labrador (NL).

5.3.2.2 Anthropometric measurement

Weight in kg and shoeless standing and sitting height in centimeter (cm) were measured twice using a 140-10 Healthweigh digital physician scale and Seca 213 stadiometer respectively (21, 22). We used the average of weight and height measurement in this study. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated from dividing the weight in kg by height (in metre) square.

5.3.2.3 Bone mineral density

Bone mineral density was measured at the total hip, using an Hologic Discovery A[™] dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) densitometer (23). Appropriate quality controls were done within and between data collecting centres using standard operating procedures. Local quality controls were done daily using a Spine Phantom, and weekly using the Whole-Body Phantom. Once a year, cross-calibrations across all densitometers was done with the Gold Standard Traveling Phantoms. Between-center differences were within the threshold limit of 1.5% (personal communication September 2020) (24).

5.3.2.4 Osteoporosis, fractures and falls

Osteoporosis was defined as the presence of a T-score \leq -2.5 at femoral neck. We generated femoral neck BMD T-scores using the young normal values from the National Health and

Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III BMD of white women 20-29 years old (25). Prevalent fractures were defined as self-reported major osteoporotic fractures (MOF; hip, clinical spine, wrist and humerus) that occurred during adult life. The fracture variable was derived by combining two questions: "Have you ever broken a bone in your adult life that resulted from a minor fall or low level of injury (e.g., a simple fall from standing height)?" (OST_5/OST_BONE) and "What type of fracture(s)?" (OST_6/OST_FRAC_COM). We derived the fall variable from the Falls (FAL) module in the maintaining contact questionnaire (MCQ version 2.7, FAL_1/FAL_12MN_MCQ) where the participants were asked about any falls over the past 12 months, in which they hurt themselves enough to limit some of their normal activities.

5.3.2.5 Physical performance measures

The physical performance measures in CLSA included the following tests: hand grip strength, timed-up-and-go (TUG), chair rise and standing balance (22). Tests were performed according to the CLSA standard operating procedures (26-30).

The hand grip strength is a measure of isometric muscle strength in the upper extremity (31). Dominant hand grip strength was measured in the CLSA using the Tracker Freedom® Wireless Grip Dynamometer (26). The average of three measurements in kilogram (kg) was used in this study. A mean measurements of 32.3 kg (24.2 kg in women, 41.2 kg in men) have been seen in healthy Canadian aged 60 to 79 years (32). Since 7% of the participants had missing values for grip strength, we also created a categorical variable with quartiles of grip strength with a fifth category including the participants with missing values.

The TUG test was developed as a mean of measuring functional mobility and balance in the elderly (31). The TUG test measured the time in seconds it took for the participants to rise from a standard armchair, walk to a line on the floor 3 metres away, turn around, return to the chair, and sit down

again (28). Therefore, a faster TUG score indicated a better performance. On average, healthy individuals between the ages of 60-80 years complete the TUG in 8-10 seconds (33).

The chair rise test measures lower limb strength and balance (31). Participants were asked to stand up and sit down from a standard chair as quickly as possible five times in a row, with arms folded across the chest (30). The time in seconds from the initial sitting position (prior to the first stand) to the final standing position (at the end of the fifth stand) was recorded. The age matched norms for chair rise test are 11.4 seconds and 14.8 seconds for 60-69 and 70-79 age groups, respectively (34).

The standing balance test measured an individual's static balance (31). An average of 53-55 second has been observed in healthy individuals aged 60 to 80 years (33). Participants were asked to position one meter from a wall, stand on one foot for as long as possible (60 seconds maximum) while first lifting the dominant leg to the calf level (29). This test was measured in seconds and was repeated in both legs. The best of the two scores was categorized as "good performance" i.e. 60 sec, and "poor performance" i.e. <60 sec in this study.

5.3.2.6 Other variables

Other explanatory variables were selected based on literature review and their availability in CLSA. Smoking was categorized as current smoker or non-smoker, and alcohol consumption in the past 12 months was divided in two categories (less than 3 servings /day or 3 or more servings/day). Other variables considered were level of education (holding or not at least a high school diploma), annual household income (above and below 100K), employment status (currently employed or not), marital status (living with a partner or not), and history of hip fracture in parents (yes, no). In women, use of hormone therapy (HT, ever vs never) and menopausal status were ascertained from the Women Health modules. The Life-Space Index (LSI) measured the functional

performance and functional status and ranged between 0 and 120, with a higher score reflecting a better functional status (35).

We combined comorbidities known to increase the risk for osteoporosis or fragility fractures and categorized them as no comorbidities, 1-3 comorbidities, or 4 or more comorbidities. These conditions included rheumatoid arthritis, osteoarthritis, neurological disease, dementia, stroke/CVA, epilepsy, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, cancer, asthma or COPD, chronic kidney disease, hyper or hypothyroidism, malabsorption syndromes, diabetes, and depression or anxiety.

The use of vitamin D and calcium supplements within the last month were obtained from In-Home Questionnaire (Version 4.0). Serum total 25-hydroxy vitamin D (25(OH)D) was measured using the Liaison (Diasorin Incorporated) assay and was reported in nmol/L. The detection limits for this chemiluminescent immunoassay technology were 10 nmol/L to 375 nmol/L.

We generated 10-year fracture risk probabilities for MOF and hip fractures using the femoral neck T score (NHANES III BMD of women 20-29 years old as per International Society for Clinical Densitometry [ISCD] recommendations) and clinical risk factors using the Canadian Fracture Risk Assessment Tool (FRAX®) (25).

5.3.3 Statistical methods

Descriptive statistics were generated using means and standard deviations (SD) or medians and interquartile ranges (IQR), and frequency and percentages as appropriate. Standard tests (chi-square, student t-test and analysis of variance) were used to compare categorical and continuous variables between province. Visual inspection of histograms and quantile-quantile plot (qqplot) showed that all continuous variables were normally distributed except FRAX scores (MOF and

hip). The FRAX scores were not log-transformed since they are used solely to classify the participants in those at risk of fracture or not (36). Pearson, spearman and chi-square tests were used to assess the strength of the relationship between variables.

All regression models were stratified by sex. Linear regression models were created to estimate the differences in total hip BMD between the provinces using Ontario as the province of reference. We first created unadjusted linear models looking at association of BMD values with province of residence. Multiple linear regression models were then fit with province, age and each covariable, among which grip strength was included as a categorical variable. The covariables meeting significance (p<0.05) were included in the fully adjusted models. Age, BMI, and height were included in the fully adjusted linear models regardless of significance. Finally, multiple linear regression models were used to estimate BMD explained by the province of residence after controlling for the potential confounding variables. Models including grip strength as continuous variable (i.e., excluding participants with missing values for grip strength), showed similar results, and therefore are not presented. Logistic regressions were used to examine the associations of the province of residence with MOF. Similar strategy as above was applied. We further adjusted the final model with femoral neck BMD.

We explored the stability of our results by conducting further sensitivity analyses using CLSA analytic weights (version 1.2), and data from participants reporting White ancestry only (91.8% of the cohort). All statistical analyses were performed using statistical R software (Version 1.2.5033© 2009-2019 RStudio, Inc). A 2-sided p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Baseline characteristics

We identified 21,227 participants aged 50 years or more with available total hip BMD measurements at baseline (Figure 4.1), including 10,716 women and 10,511 men from the following seven Canadian provinces: BC (4,260), AB (2,163), MB (2,274), ON (4,684), QC (4,143), NS (2,178), and NL (1,525). Baseline characteristics of the participants stratified by the province of residence are shown in Table 4.1. The mean (standard deviation, SD) age of the participants was 63.9 (9.1) years and did not differ significantly between provinces. The participants in QC had the lowest mean height (165.7 cm [9.3]) and participants in BC had the highest mean height (169.8 cm [9.5]), while participants in BC and NL had respectively the lowest and highest mean BMI (BC: 27.4 kg/m² [5.0]; NL: 28.8 kg/m² [5.3]). The proportion of current smokers significantly varied between provinces and was highest in QC (10.2 %). Vitamin D supplement use was lowest in NL (42.8 %) and highest in AB (65.4 %). Although the level of 25(OH)D varied significantly between provinces, the mean 25(OH)D level in all provinces were above the sufficient level of 50 nmol/L. The proportion of participants having a FRAX MOF > 20% was lowest in QC (3.3 %) and highest in MB (4.8 %) and the proportion of those who reported a fall in the previous 12 months varied by province from 8.4 % (MB) to 12.0 % (AB).

All measures of physical performance varied between provinces (Table 4.2), but the means for grip strength, TUG, chair rise and median for balance were within the normal range for healthy individuals. Mean (SD) grip strength varied from 33.6 kg (10.8) in MB to 35.9 kg (12.1) in NL. The proportion of participants with a value of 60 seconds for the balance test, i.e., the best score that could be obtained, varied from 30.7% (AB) to 50.9% (BC).

5.4.2 Osteoporosis, BMD, and prevalent fractures

The prevalence of osteoporosis and the mean total hip BMD (g/cm^2) by province of residence are presented in Figure 3.2. The prevalence of osteoporosis was 5.2 % in women and 0.9 % in men and did not differ significantly between provinces. Although not statistically significant, we found the highest prevalence of osteoporosis in MB women (6.6%) and NL men (1.3%) and the lowest in NS in both women (4.0%) and men (0.5%).

The mean total hip BMD significantly differed between provinces, and the lowest was noted in BC in both women and men. Unadjusted and fully adjusted estimates for total hip BMD by province of residence are presented in Table 4.3. Unadjusted estimates demonstrated that women from all provinces, except NL, had a lower total hip BMD than women from Ontario (reference) with statistically significant differences ranging from -0.012 g/cm² (MB, QC) to -0.023 g/cm² (BC). Adjusting for co-variables did not change the associations except for the province of QC where the estimate (95% confidence interval) for total hip BMD changed from -0.012 g/cm² (-0.020; -0.004) to -0.004 g/cm² (-0.010; 0.003). In men, unadjusted total hip BMD estimates for BC, AB and QC were lower than Ontario as opposed to men from NS who had total hip BMD higher than Ontario. Adjusted estimates remained similar in all provinces except for QC where the results changed from statistically significant to non-significant (-0.014 g/cm² [-0.022; -0.005] to 0.001 g/cm² [-0.007; 0.009]). While physical performance measures varied between provinces, adjusting for physical performance measures did not explain the observed geographical variations (Table 4.3).

The proportion of participants with prevalent MOF are presented in Figure 3.1. The differences between provinces were statistically significant in both sexes, with women and men from BC having the lowest proportion of prevalent MOF (4.1 % and 1.3 % respectively). Adjusted Odds

Ratios (CI: 95% confidence intervals) for prevalent MOF were significantly lower in women from BC (0.50 [0.37; 0.69]), and men from BC (0.35 [0.22; 0.57]) compared to that from Ontario (Table 4.4). Similar to the linear regression analyses, adjusting for physical performance measures did not explain the odds ratio variations between provinces. Analyses in the subgroup with self-reported White ancestry only or using CLSA sampling weights yielded similar results to those of the main analysis.

5.5 Discussion

Our findings support significant variations in sex-specific BMD and self-reported major osteoporotic fracture patterns across Canadian provinces in the population aged 50 years and older. Although a higher prevalence of osteoporosis (lower BMD) is typically associated with higher fracture rates (14, 15), we noted that women and men in BC not only had the lowest BMD estimates, but also the lowest odds of fracture. These results are consistent with findings from CaMos twenty years ago, in which, the regional variation in the prevalence of low BMD was not concordant with the regional variation in prevalent fracture in men or women (20). We were unable to further explain these regional variations by adding novel variables collected as part of the CLSA study into our models, such as physical function.

We noted the prevalence of osteoporosis in CLSA cohort (women: 5.2 %, men 0.9 %) was lower than previous reports in Canada. Osteoporosis in CaMos was defined by lumbar spine or femoral neck BMD T-score \leq -2.5 in women and men 50 years and older, including participants above 85 years, which may account for the higher prevalence of osteoporosis of 18.8% and 6.2% in women and men, respectively (20). Due to the absence of lumbar BMD measurements in CLSA dataset, osteoporosis prevalence was defined using femoral neck BMD only, as is recommended by ISCD (37). According to the 2015-16 Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) report, the latest prevalence of osteoporosis was 18.9 % in women and 4.4 % in men (3). PHAC used linked health administrative databases for men and women aged 40 years and older to determine the prevalence of osteoporosis and the incidence of fractures in Canadian over 15 years (2000–2001 to 2015–2016); in this report, the prevalence is essentially dependent on the reporting of osteoporosis by clinicians in medical records or billing claims. The methodology and age group considered in the PHAC report may contribute for the differences in the reported prevalence compared to our results. For total hip BMD, we observed in CLSA the lowest BMD in women (-0.023 g/cm²) and men (-0.025 g/cm²) from BC. In CaMos the lowest age-standardized means were in QC (men) and NS (women).

Studies have shown that the prevalence of fractures not only differs between countries, but within regions of countries (12, 18, 19). Dhanwal et al. found a north-south gradient pattern of fractures in the US and Europe (16), with northern regions having a higher rate of hip fractures. Additionally, they documented regional variations in vertebral fracture prevalence among Latin American countries; Brazil (1.7%), Argentina (14.5%), and Mexico (15.7%). In Canada, geographical variation in the prevalence of fractures was also documented in CaMos (20). While we were able to demonstrate the presence of geographical variation in the prevalence of fractures across the Canadian provinces, we found the CLSA pattern to be different and the magnitude of the prevalence of fracture to be lower than that from CaMos. In CLSA, we found that the lowest proportions of fracture were in BC women (4.1%) and men (1.3%), and the highest, in women from NS (8%) and men from MB (4.5%). As compared to the CaMos findings where the lowest prevalence of fractures were observed in QC women (5.8%) and men (3.4%) and the highest in women (13.5%) and men (7.3%) from Kingston (ON).

Owing to the availability of physical performance measures in the CLSA dataset (chair rise, grip strength, balance test, and TUG), we were able to investigate fracture risk by physical measures in this cohort. These measures have been shown to predict major osteoporotic fractures independently of traditional clinical risk factors and BMD (38). For example, one leg standing time <10 seconds has been shown to be associated with 76% increased risk of major osteoporotic fractures in older women after adjusting for age, height, and weight (39). TUG also can predict falls and other geriatric outcomes in older adults independently (40). While we established that each of these measures were associated with BMD estimates and fracture risk, adding the variables to our models did not further explained the observed geographical variations.

The causes for these variations are generally considered to be multifactorial and likely associated with a combination of risk factors including population specific characteristics, income, place of residence (urban vs rural), environmental factors, as well as healthcare services utilization (12, 15, 16, 41-43). Vitamin D deficiency with threshold level of below 50 nmol/L is associated with higher risks of fractures and bone loss, and have been reported to vary by age (lower levels in childhood and the elderly), ethnicity (lower in European Caucasians compared with non-Caucasians), and regions (44). Previously CaMos found the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in adults aged 50-70 years to be 17.7% in women and 22.3% in men (45). We found the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency probably reflects the higher proportion of people who take vitamin D supplement in CLSA, similar to CaMos findings in where the level of 25(OH)D increased over the 10-year follow-up of CaMos, due in part to an increase intake of vitamin D supplement (46). Adjusting for vitamin D level in our regression analysis, did not significantly affect the result.

Some studies justified in part these variations by differences in ethnicity of the study populations. Cauley et al. explained the higher BMD in men from Tobago compared to that from the US by difference in ethnicity admixture (15). A registry based cohort study of women aged 40 years or older from Manitoba, has documented that Asian and Black women have lower risk for MOF than other ethnicities (47). Canadians self-identified as Chinese and Whites in the CaMos Study differed on a number of important risk factors for osteoporosis and fractures including height, BMI, calcium intake, tea consumption, falls, and BMD (48). In CLSA, 92% of the cohort selfidentified as White and the remainder reported various ethnic backgrounds (Black, Asian, South East Asian, etc.); our results were similar when we restricted the analysis to the subgroup of individuals of White ancestry only.

The main strengths of this study include the large sample size, the population sampling methods, and the comprehensiveness of the variables. Quality controls and cross-calibration of DXA machines, performed within and between centers using standard operating procedures, ensured comparability of BMD measurement within centers. In CLSA, the participants had to be able to communicate and give written consent in either French or English (30), which may have resulted in a cohort that under-represents people with lower levels of literacy in French or English or those with certain health conditions such as hearing problems (49). However, the CLSA cohort profile, including response rates, selected sociodemographic, lifestyle and health status characteristics, have been shown to be comparable with estimates from the Canadian Community Health Survey–Healthy Aging (CCHS-HA) and the Canadian census data (49). Also, the weighted prevalence estimates for chronic conditions were aligned with the nationally representative sources.

Although CLSA comprehensive cohort is a national sample of the Canadian population; it only represents Canadians living 25-50 km around large cities in 7 out of ten Canadian provinces and

the majority is comprised of individuals of White ethnic background. Because of the crosssectional nature of our data, we were not able to evaluate the temporality of the risk factors and did not have data on incident fractures. Like any observational studies, selection bias is a potential limitation leading to possibility of residual confounding since there are a wide range of individual, social and environmental factors known to be determinants of musculoskeletal health that were not available in the dataset.

In conclusion, findings from this study support the existence of geographical variations in BMD and prevalent fractures between provinces. Although, physical performance measures (chair rise, grip strength, balance test, TUG) were strongly associated with BMD and fracture prevalence in the CLSA cohort, their addition to regression models did not explained the observed variations. Other unmeasured factors likely explain some of the observed geographical variations. Better understanding of geographical variations would be helpful in the optimization of osteoporosis management strategies.

5.6 Data availability statement

The datasets generated for this article were generated by the Canadian Longitudinal Study of Aging; researchers apply for data access by following the procedure outlined here: *www.clsa-elcv.ca*. Questions regarding access the datasets should be directed to *ac.vcle-aslc@ssecca*.

5.7 Ethics approval

This study was approved by the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre (RI-MUHC) Research Ethics Board (Ethics Certificate No. 2019-4926).

5.8 Acknowledgements

This research was made possible using the data/biospecimens collected by the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Funding for the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging

(CLSA) is provided by the Government of Canada through the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) under grant reference: LSA 94473 and the Canada Foundation for Innovation. This research has been conducted using the CLSA dataset [v4.0 and weights v1.2], under Application Number 180909. The CLSA is led by Drs. Parminder Raina, Christina Wolfson and Susan Kirkland.

The opinions expressed in this manuscript are the author's own and do not reflect the views of the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging.

This research was also made possible through the support of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Catalyst Grant: Analysis of CLSA Data (2019). S N Morin is a scholar of the Fonds de Recherche du Québec – santé (FRQS).

5.9 Authors' contributions

SNM conceived the study and secured funding for this study. NH and CB conducted the data analysis and drafted the initial manuscript supervised by SNM. AP, AMC, ER, WDL and DG helped with results interpretation, and gave critical feedback on the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript.

5.10 Conflicts of interest

Authors report no conflict of interest.

5.11 Tables

Table 5.1. Baseline characteristics by province of residence

	BC (n=4,260)	AB (n=2,163)	MB (n=2,274)	ON (n=4,684)	QC (n=4,143)	NS (n=2,178)	NL (n=1,525)	Total (n=21,227)	P-value*
Age (years) – Mean (SD)	64.(9.3)	63.8 (9.1)	64.0 (9.1)	64.1 (9.2)	63.7 (8.9)	64.1 (8.8)	63.7 (8.9)	63.9 (9.1)	0.218
Sex (Women) – N (%)	2174 (51.0)	1069 (49.4)	1159 (51.0)	2331 (49.8)	2144 (51.7)	1079 (49.5)	760 (49.8)	10716 (50.5)	0.384
Height (cm) – Mean (SD)	169.8 (9.5)	169.6 (9.6)	168.1 (9.4)	168.8 (9.6)	165.7 (9.3)	168.3(10.0)	168.1 (9.0)	168.2 (9.6)	<0.001
Body mass index (kg/m²) – Mean (SD)	27.4 (5.0)	28.1 (5.4)	28.7 (5.9)	28.1 (5.2)	27.7 (5.1)	28.6 (5.3)	28.8 (5.3)	28.1 (5.3)	<0.001
Smoking (Current smoker) – N (%)	265 (6.2)	159 (7.4)	184 (8.1)	370 (7.9)	421 (10.2)	159 (7.3)	125 (8.2)	1683 (7.9)	<0.001
Alcohol (3 or more drinks/day) – N (%)	307 (7.2)	97 (4.5)	105 (4.6)	307 (6.6)	289 (7.0)	133 (6.1)	58 (3.8)	1296 (6.1)	<0.001
Education (Post- secondary degree/ Diploma) – N (%)	3407 (80.0)	1762 (81.5)	1711 (75.2)	3553 (75.9)	3077 (74.3)	1709 (78.5)	1293 (84.8)	16512 (77.8)	<0.001
Employment (Currently employed) – N (%)	1616 (37.9)	837 (38.7)	874 (38.4)	1736 (37.1)	1404 (33.9)	785 (36.0)	547 (35.9)	7799 (36.7)	<0.001
Number of comorbidities – N (%)									0.004
No comorbidities	863 (20.3)	414 (19.1)	433 (19.0)	878 (18.7)	862 (20.8)	367 (16.9)	297 (19.5)	4114 (19.4)	
1-3 comorbidities	2697 (63.3)	1377 (63.7)	1508 (66.3)	3078 (65.7)	2632 (63.5)	1382 (63.5)	976 (64.0)	13650 (64.3)	
4+ comorbidities	445 (10.4)	221 (10.2)	236 (10.4)	480 (10.2)	343 (8.3)	186 (8.5)	145 (9.5)	2056 (9.7)	
History of hip fracture in parents – N (%)	572 (13.4)	295 (13.6)	352 (15.5)	646 (13.8)	502 (12.1)	295 (13.5)	218 (14.3)	2880 (13.6)	0.010
Corticosteroid use (3 months or more) – N (%)	251 (5.9)	100 (4.6)	103 (4.5)	232 (5.0)	164 (4.0)	99 (4.5)	76 (5.0)	1025 (4.8)	0.007
Calcium supplement (past month) – N (%)	1346 (31.6)	776 (35.9)	553 (24.3)	1257 (26.8)	1528 (36.9)	455 (20.9)	349 (22.9)	6264 (29.5)	<0.001

Vitamin D supplement (past month) – N (%)	2097 (49.2)	1415 (65.4)	1041 (45.8)	2509 (53.6)	1919 (46.3)	994 (45.6)	652 (42.8)	10627 (50.1)	<0.001
25(OH)D (nmol/L) – Mean (SD)	90.8 (36.9)	102.0 (44.0)	87.6 (36.7)	94.7 (37.2)	85.8 (34.1)	89.5 (34.5)	86.0 (32.7)	91.0 (37.0)	<0.001
FRAX score (MOF) – Mean (SD)	7.6 (5.7)	7.7 (5.7)	7.9 (6.3)	7.9 (5.7)	7.7 (5.3)	7.4 (5.4)	7.6 (5.4)	7.7 (5.6)	0.004
FRAX score (hip) – Mean (SD)	1.5 (3.0)	1.4 (3.1)	1.6 (3.7)	1.5 (2.9)	1.4 (2.7)	1.3 (2.6)	1.4 (2.3)	1.5 (2.9)	0.002
Falls (past 12 months) – N (%)	427 (10.0)	259 (12.0)	192 (8.4)	472 (10.1)	471 (11.4)	219 (10.1)	141 (9.2)	2181 (10.3)	0.002

BC=British Columbia; AB=Alberta; MB=Manitoba; ON=Ontario; QC=Quebec; NS=Nova Scotia; NL= Newfoundland and Labrador.

Number of missing values for: body mass index=12, smoking=1, alcohol=8, education=34, employment=209, comorbidities=1,407, 25(OH)D=1,862, history of hip fracture in parents=785, falls=253, corticosteroid use=599, calcium supplement=276, vitamin D supplement=278.

Non-weighted results.

* ANOVA and Chi-squared test

T 11 C O	D1 · 1	C	1	•	C · 1
Table 57	Physical	nertormance	hV	nrovince.	of residence
1 4010 5.2.	1 II y Sloui	periormanee	Uy.	province	or restactive

	BC (n=4260)	AB (n=2163)	MB (n=2274)	ON (n=4684)	QC (n=4143)	NS (n=2178)	NL (n=1525)	Overall (n=21227)	P-value*
Grip strength (max- kg) – Mean (SD)	35.5 (11.7)	35.3 (11.6)	33.6 (10.8)	35.4 (12.0)	35.1 (11.4)	34.8 (11.8)	35.9 (12.1)	35.1 (11.6)	<0.001
Timed-up-and-go (sec) – Mean (SD)	9.6 (2.4)	9.5 (2.0)	9.7 (2.2)	9.5 (2.2)	9.5 (1.9)	8.8 (2.0)	9.8 (2.0)	9.5 (2.1)	<0.001
5 Chair rises (sec) – Mean (SD)	13.3 (3.6)	11.9 (3.2)	13.8 (3.8)	13.4 (3.5)	13.7 (3.9)	12.3 (3.3)	15.4 (3.4)	13.4 (3.7)	<0.001
Balance test (Good performance) – N (%)	2168 (50.9)	665 (30.7)	801 (35.2)	1491 (31.8)	1586 (38.3)	684 (31.4)	666 (43.7)	8061 (38.0)	<0.001

BC=British Columbia; AB=Alberta; MB=Manitoba; ON=Ontario; QC=Quebec; NS=Nova Scotia; NL=

Newfoundland and Labrador.

Number of missing values for: grip strength=1,483, timed-up-and-go=80, chair rise=563, balance test=728. Non-weighted results.

* ANOVA and Chi-squared test

Table 5.3. Unadjusted and adjusted estimates (95% confidence intervals) for total hip bone mineral density (BMD, g/cm²) by province of residence

Estimates g/cm ² (95% CI)		Women N=9,319						
	Unadjusted	*Adjusted Model 1	**Adjusted Model 2	Unadjusted	***Adjusted Model 1	****Adjusted Model 2		
BC	-0.023	-0.021	-0.022	-0.025	-0.018	-0.020		
	(-0.031, -0.016)	(-0.028, -0.015)	(-0.029, -0.016)	(-0.034, -0.017)	(-0.026, -0.011)	(-0.028, -0.012)		
AB	-0.018	-0.017	-0.018	-0.022	-0.022	-0.023		
	(-0.027, -0.008)	(-0.025, -0.009)	(-0.026, -0.010)	(-0.032, -0.012)	(-0.031, -0.012)	(-0.032, -0.013)		
МВ	-0.012	-0.014	-0.014	0.001	0.002	0.003		
	(-0.021, -0.002)	(-0.022, -0.007)	(-0.022, -0.006)	(-0.009, 0.012)	(-0.007, 0.012)	(-0.006, 0.012)		
QC	-0.012	-0.003	-0.004	-0.014	0.003	0.001		
	(-0.020, -0.004)	(-0.009, 0.004)	(-0.010, 0.003)	(-0.022, -0.005)	(-0.005, 0.010)	(-0.007, 0.009)		
NS	-0.013	-0.012	-0.013	0.013	0.013	0.010		
	(-0.023, -0.004)	(-0.020, -0.004)	(-0.021, -0.005)	(0.003, 0.024)	(0.003, 0.023)	(0.001, 0.020)		
NL	0.003	-0.003	-0.001	0.011	0.006	0.006		
	(-0.007, 0.014)	(-0.012, 0.006)	(-0.011, 0.008)	(-0.000, 0.023)	(-0.004, 0.016)	(-0.004, 0.017)		
ON	Reference							

BC=British Columbia; AB=Alberta; MB=Manitoba; ON=Ontario; QC=Quebec; NS=Nova Scotia; NL= Newfoundland and Labrador.

Non-weighted results

* adjusted for age, height, body mass index (BMI), smoking, life space index, comorbidities, education, hormone replacement therapy (HRT)

** adjusted for age, height, body mass index (BMI), smoking, life space index, comorbidities, education, hormone replacement therapy (HRT) AND physical performance measures (TUG, chair rise, balance, and hand grip strength) *** adjusted for age, height, body mass index (BMI), smoking, life space index, comorbidities, marital status, level of income, vision

**** adjusted for age, height, body mass index (BMI), smoking, life space index, comorbidities, marital status, level of income, vision, AND physical performance measures (TUG, chair rise, balance, and hand grip strength) In **bold:** statistically significant estimates (P-value ≤ 0.05) Table 5.4. Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence intervals for prevalent MOF by province of residence in women and men

OR (95% CI)		Women N=8,855		Men N=8,926				
	Unadjusted	*Adjusted Model 1	**Adjusted Model 2	Unadjusted	***Adjusted Model 1	****Adjusted Model 2		
BC	0.51	0.53	0.50	0.34	0.34	0.35		
	(0.38, 0.69)	(0.40, 0.72)	(0.37, 0.69)	(0.21, 0.54)	(0.21, 0.55)	(0.22, 0.57)		
AB	0.77	0.72	0.71	0.71	0.71	0.71		
	(0.55, 1.08)	(0.50, 1.02)	(0.50, 1.02)	(0.45, 1.14)	(0.45, 1.14)	(0.43, 1.16)		
MB	1.03	1.18	1.19	1.19	1.26	1.29		
	(0.77, 1.39)	(0.87, 1.62)	(0.87, 1.62)	(0.81, 1.76)	(0.85, 1.88)	(0.86, 1.93)		
QC	0.72	0.77	0.77	0.79	0.80	0.76		
	(0.55, 0.95)	(0.58, 1.03)	(0.58, 1.03)	(0.55, 1.13)	(0.55, 1.16)	(0.51, 1.12)		
NS	1.09	1.31	1.32	0.41	0.51	0.59		
	(0.80, 1.49)	(0.95, 1.80)	(0.95, 1.83)	(0.23, 0.73)	(0.28, 0.91)	(0.33, 1.07)		
NL	0.92	0.95	0.96	0.73	0.74	0.76		
	(0.64, 1.33)	(0.65, 1.38)	(0.65, 1.40)	(0.43, 1.22)	(0.44, 1.25)	(0.44, 1.30)		
ON	Reference							

BC=British Columbia; AB=Alberta; MB=Manitoba; ON=Ontario; QC=Quebec; NS=Nova Scotia; NL= Newfoundland and Labrador.

Non-weighted results

* adjusted for age, height, body mass index (BMI), comorbidities, femoral neck BMD, history of calcium usage in previous month, life space index, history of corticosteroid use, history of hip fractures in parents, number of falls in the past 12 months, and osteoporosis diagnosis

** adjusted for age, height, body mass index (BMI), comorbidities, femoral neck BMD, history of calcium usage in previous month, life space index, history of corticosteroid use, history of hip fractures in parents, number of falls in the past 12 months, and osteoporosis diagnosis AND physical performance measures (TUG, chair rise, and balance) *** adjusted for age, height, body mass index (BMI), comorbidities, femoral neck BMD, history of calcium usage in previous month, level of income, and osteoporosis diagnosis

**** adjusted for age, height, body mass index (BMI), comorbidities, femoral neck BMD, history of calcium usage in previous month, level of income, and osteoporosis diagnosis AND physical performance measures (TUG, chair rise, and balance)

In **bold:** statistically significant odds ratios (P-value ≤ 0.05)

5.12 Figures

Figure 5.1. Flowchart of the participants



* BMD at total hip

Figure 5.2. Proportion of osteoporosis (Femoral neck T-score \leq -2.5) and mean total hip bone mineral density (BMD, g/cm²) in women and men



BC=British Columbia; AB=Alberta; MB=Manitoba; ON=Ontario; QC=Quebec; NS=Nova Scotia; NL= Newfoundland and Labrador.

Comparison of prevalence of osteoporosis between provinces: P Value ≥ 0.05 in Chi-squared test Comparison of mean total hip BMD between provinces: P Value < 0.05 in ANOVA Non-weighted.



BC=British Columbia; AB=Alberta; MB=Manitoba; ON=Ontario; QC=Quebec; NS=Nova Scotia; NL= Newfoundland and Labrador.

Comparison of prevalence of osteoporosis between provinces: P Value ≥ 0.05 in Chi-squared test Comparison of mean total hip BMD between provinces: P Value < 0.05 in ANOVA Non-weighted.



Figure 5.3. Proportion of major osteoporotic fractures (MOF) in women and men

BC=British Columbia; AB=Alberta; MB=Manitoba; ON=Ontario; QC=Quebec; NS=Nova Scotia; NL= Newfoundland and Labrador.

Differences between provinces were statistically significant in both women and men (P-value ≤ 0.05 in Chi-squared test) Non-weighted.

Non-weighted.

5.13 References

1. United Nations DoEaSA, Population Division (2019). World Population Ageing 2019:

Highlights (ST/ESA/SER.A/430). 2019.

2. Inoue T, Maeda K, Nagano A, Shimizu A, Ueshima J, Murotani K, et al. Related Factors and Clinical Outcomes of Osteosarcopenia: A Narrative Review. Nutrients. 2021;13(2).

3. Canada PHAo. Osteoporosis and related fractures in Canada: Report from the Canadian

Chronic Disease Surveillance System 2020. Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention

in Canada: Research, Policy and Practice. 2021;41(2):68.

4. Zagorski P, Tabor E, Martela-Tomaszek K, Adamczyk P, Pluskiewicz W. Five-year

fracture risk assessment in postmenopausal women, using both the POL-RISK calculator and the

Garvan nomogram: the Silesia Osteo Active Study. Arch Osteoporos. 2021;16(1):32.

5. Brown JP, Morin S, Leslie W, Papaioannou A, Cheung AM, Davison KS, et al. Bisphosphonates for treatment of osteoporosis: expected benefits, potential harms, and drug holidays. Can Fam Physician. 2014;60(4):324-33.

 Wall M, Lohfeld L, Giangregorio L, Ioannidis G, Kennedy CC, Moser A, et al. Fracture risk assessment in long-term care: a survey of long-term care physicians. BMC Geriatr. 2013;13:109.

Leslie WD, Majumdar SR, Morin SN, Lix LM, Schousboe JT, Ensrud KE, et al.
 Performance of FRAX in clinical practice according to sex and osteoporosis definitions: the
 Manitoba BMD registry. Osteoporos Int. 2018;29(3):759-67.

8. Yang K, Miao H, Zhao R, Wu X, Liu B, Zheng S, et al. Association between serum uric acid and bone mineral density in patients with type 2 diabetes: A 6-year longitudinal study in China. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100(17):e25733.

9. Leslie WD, O'Donnell S, Jean S, Lagace C, Walsh P, Bancej C, et al. Trends in hip fracture rates in Canada. JAMA. 2009;302(8):883-9.

Hopman WM, Berger C, Joseph L, Morin SN, Towheed T, Anastassiades T, et al.
 Longitudinal assessment of health-related quality of life in osteoporosis: data from the
 population-based Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study. Osteoporos Int. 2019;30(8):1635 44.

11. Leslie WD, Seeman E, Morin SN, Lix LM, Majumdar SR. The diagnostic threshold for osteoporosis impedes fracture prevention in women at high risk for fracture: A registry-based cohort study. Bone. 2018;114:298-303.

12. Morin SN, Lix LM, Majumdar SR, Leslie WD. Temporal trends in the incidence of osteoporotic fractures. Curr Osteoporos Rep. 2013;11(4):263-9.

77

13. Sakamoto K, Nakamura T, Hagino H, Endo N, Mori S, Muto Y, et al. Report on the Japanese Orthopaedic Association's 3-year project observing hip fractures at fixed-point hospitals. J Orthop Sci. 2006;11(2):127-34.

14. Ballane G, Cauley JA, Luckey MM, El-Hajj Fuleihan G. Worldwide prevalence and incidence of osteoporotic vertebral fractures. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28(5):1531-42.

15. Cauley JA, Chalhoub D, Kassem AM, Fuleihan Gel H. Geographic and ethnic disparities in osteoporotic fractures. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10(6):338-51.

Dhanwal DK, Dennison EM, Harvey NC, Cooper C. Epidemiology of hip fracture:
 Worldwide geographic variation. Indian J Orthop. 2011;45(1):15-22.

Hernlund E, Svedbom A, Ivergard M, Compston J, Cooper C, Stenmark J, et al.
Osteoporosis in the European Union: medical management, epidemiology and economic burden.
A report prepared in collaboration with the International Osteoporosis Foundation (IOF) and the
European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations (EFPIA). Arch Osteoporos.
2013;8:136.

Zhou Y, Wu K, Shen H, Zhang J, Deng HW, Zhao LJ. Geographical differences in osteoporosis, obesity, and sarcopenia related traits in white American cohorts. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):12311.

 Deleze M, Cons-Molina F, Villa AR, Morales-Torres J, Gonzalez-Gonzalez JG, Calva JJ, et al. Geographic differences in bone mineral density of Mexican women. Osteoporos Int. 2000;11(7):562-9.

20. Langsetmo L, Hanley DA, Kreiger N, Jamal SA, Prior J, Adachi JD, et al. Geographic variation of bone mineral density and selected risk factors for prediction of incident fracture among Canadians 50 and older. Bone. 2008;43(4):672-8.

78

CLSA. Standing Height and Weight Measurement, Standard Operating Procedure. 2016.
 Report No.: SOP DCS 0006.

22. Raina P WC, Kirkland S. CANADIAN LONGITUDINAL STUDY ON AGING (CLSA)Full protocol.

23. CLSA. Dual-energy X-ray Absorption (DXA) SOP – Calibration (Quality Assurance) and Maintenance. 2017(SOP_DCS_0043):9.

24. Hangartner TN. A study of the long-term precision of dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry bone densitometers and implications for the validity of the least-significant-change calculation. Osteoporos Int. 2007;18(4):513-23.

25. Watts NB, Leslie WD, Foldes AJ, Miller PD. 2013 International Society for Clinical Densitometry Position Development Conference: Task Force on Normative Databases. J Clin Densitom. 2013;16(4):472-81.

 CLSA. Hand Grip Strength, Standard Operating Procedure. 2016. Report No.: SOP_DCS_0028.

CLSA. Timed (4-metre) Walk Test, Standard Operating Procedure. 2014. Report No.:
 SOP_DCS_0021.

 CLSA. Timed Get Up and Go Test, Standard Operating Procedures. 2014. Report No.: SOP_DCS_0022.

 CLSA. Measuring Standing Balance, Standard Operating Procedures. 2014. Report No.: SOP_DCS_0023.

 CLSA. Chair Rise Test, Standard Operating Procedure. 2014. Report No.: SOP_DCS_0024. 31. Beauchamp MK, Hao Q, Kuspinar A, D'Amore C, Scime G, Ma J, et al. Reliability and minimal detectable change values for performance-based measures of physical functioning in the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2021.

32. Wong SL. Grip strength reference values for Canadians aged 6 to 79: Canadian Health Measures Survey, 2007 to 2013. Health Rep. 2016;27(10):3-10.

33. Steffen TM, Hacker TA, Mollinger L. Age- and gender-related test performance in community-dwelling elderly people: Six-Minute Walk Test, Berg Balance Scale, Timed Up & Go Test, and gait speeds. Phys Ther. 2002;82(2):128-37.

34. Bohannon RW. Reference values for the five-repetition sit-to-stand test: a descriptive meta-analysis of data from elders. Percept Mot Skills. 2006;103(1):215-22.

35. Kuspinar A, Verschoor CP, Beauchamp MK, Dushoff J, Ma J, Amster E, et al. Modifiable factors related to life-space mobility in community-dwelling older adults: results from the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging. BMC Geriatr. 2020;20(1):35.

36. Papaioannou A, Morin S, Cheung AM, Atkinson S, Brown JP, Feldman S, et al. 2010 clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in Canada: summary. CMAJ. 2010;182(17):1864-73.

37. Schousboe JT, Shepherd JA, Bilezikian JP, Baim S. Executive summary of the 2013 International Society for Clinical Densitometry Position Development Conference on bone densitometry. J Clin Densitom. 2013;16(4):455-66.

38. Harvey NC, Oden A, Orwoll E, Lapidus J, Kwok T, Karlsson MK, et al. Measures of Physical Performance and Muscle Strength as Predictors of Fracture Risk Independent of FRAX, Falls, and aBMD: A Meta-Analysis of the Osteoporotic Fractures in Men (MrOS) Study. J Bone Miner Res. 2018;33(12):2150-7.

80

39. Larsson BAM, Johansson L, Mellstrom D, Johansson H, Axelsson KF, Harvey N, et al. One leg standing time predicts fracture risk in older women independent of clinical risk factors and BMD. Osteoporos Int. 2022;33(1):185-94.

40. Viccaro LJ, Perera S, Studenski SA. Is timed up and go better than gait speed in predicting health, function, and falls in older adults? J Am Geriatr Soc. 2011;59(5):887-92.

41. Nguyen TV. Air pollution: a largely neglected risk factor for osteoporosis. Lancet Planet Health. 2017;1(8):e311-e2.

42. Mazzucchelli R, Crespi-Villarias N, Perez-Fernandez E, Durban Reguera ML, Guzon Illescas O, Quiros J, et al. Weather conditions and their effect on seasonality of incident osteoporotic hip fracture. Arch Osteoporos. 2018;13(1):28.

43. Pinheiro Mde M, Eis SR. Epidemiology of osteoporotic fractures in Brazil: what we have and what we need. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 2010;54(2):164-70.

44. Amrein K, Scherkl M, Hoffmann M, Neuwersch-Sommeregger S, Kostenberger M,
Tmava Berisha A, et al. Vitamin D deficiency 2.0: an update on the current status worldwide.
Eur J Clin Nutr. 2020;74(11):1498-513.

45. Greene-Finestone LS, Berger C, de Groh M, Hanley DA, Hidiroglou N, Sarafin K, et al. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D in Canadian adults: biological, environmental, and behavioral correlates. Osteoporos Int. 2011;22(5):1389-99.

46. Berger C, Greene-Finestone LS, Langsetmo L, Kreiger N, Joseph L, Kovacs CS, et al. Temporal trends and determinants of longitudinal change in 25-hydroxyvitamin D and parathyroid hormone levels. J Bone Miner Res. 2012;27(6):1381-9. 47. Leslie WD, Morin SN, Lix LM, McCloskey EV, Johansson H, Harvey NC, et al. Fracture prediction from FRAX for Canadian ethnic groups: a registry-based cohort study. Osteoporos Int. 2021;32(1):113-22.

48. Morin SN, Berger C, Liu W, Prior JC, Cheung AM, Hanley DA, et al. Differences in fracture prevalence and in bone mineral density between Chinese and White Canadians: the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos). Arch Osteoporos. 2020;15(1):147.

49. Raina P, Wolfson C, Kirkland S, Griffith LE, Balion C, Cossette B, et al. Cohort Profile: The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Int J Epidemiol. 2019;48(6):1752-3j.

<u>CHAPTER 6</u> DISCUSSION

6.1 General discussion

As the population is aging, more Canadians will be living with chronic age-associated diseases such as osteoporosis (2, 31, 120), bringing a substantial burden to healthcare systems, individuals, and society (36, 43). Over the past decades, overtime change and geographical variations in osteoporosis and osteoporotic fracture rates have been documented in many countries (40, 121, 122). In this thesis, we first assessed the changes in BMD, fractures rates, and anti-osteoporosis treatment use in Canada over the past two decades. We then explored the patterns in osteoporosis, BMD, and fracture rates between Canadian provinces. Our results identified a higher mean BMD and lower fracture rates in the more recent cohort, consistent with improved musculoskeletal health in older Canadians over time. We also demonstrated significant variations in sex-specific BMD and self-reported major osteoporotic fracture rates. Although our results may be limited by selection bias and unmeasured individual, social and environmental factors, they are in keeping with similar findings documented in other countries.

The limitations of the projects were thoroughly discussed in the corresponding manuscripts. The first issue was the generalizability of our results. Both cohorts' participants represent Canadians living around large cities and of predominantly White ethnic background. To control for the possible effect of ethnicity/race on our outcomes of bone mineral density and fractures rates, we conducted a sensitivity analysis keeping only data from participants of White ancestry; results remained unchanged. We also confirmed that the cohorts' profiles, including response rates, selected sociodemographic, lifestyle and health status characteristics, were shown to be comparable with estimates from other nationally representative sources (123); we believe our results are overall representative of the Canadian elder population.

We also considered selection and healthy participants biases because: firstly, the difference in the design and objectives of cohorts studies would have affected the participants' interest in participating in the studies and baseline characteristics and our results consequently; secondly, due to a wide range of individuals, social and environmental factors known to be determinants of musculoskeletal health but not measured in the datasets, our results were subject to the possibility of residual confounding. To compensate for the possible differences in sampling strategy between both cohorts, we presented the prevalence by sex and age groups. Also, it has been shown that the weighted prevalence estimates for chronic conditions were aligned with the nationally representative sources.

Finally, because of the cross-sectional nature of our data, we were not able to evaluate the temporality of the risk factors and did not have data on incident fractures. As follow up data for the CLSA become available, further analyses documenting fracture rates over time will be performed.

Despite the development of very efficient osteoporosis management strategies, guidelines, and services in recent years, we documented that the osteoporosis treatment gap in individuals at high-risk for fractures has remained elevated. The reasons for this gap include lack of identification by clinicians of patients at high-risk for fractures, underestimation of fracture risk by both clinicians and patients, concerns about adverse effects and costs of medication, uncertainty about the duration of therapy, insufficient knowledge of the disease and its management. More specifically, concerns about harms associated with long term bisphosphonate use have led to cessation or lack of initiation of effective therapies. As the rate of osteoporosis and fractures differ across countries, also do access to healthcare, BMD testing, use of anti-osteoporosis medication, socioeconomic status and patient values.

6.2 Future work and perspectives

The first step toward optimized osteoporosis care and reducing the burden of osteoporosis is to have a comprehensive understanding of the disease pathophysiology and epidemiology. The following steps should focus on exploring the barriers in osteoporosis management and improving identifying high-risk individuals. Initiatives concentrating on research-focused solutions, and clinical and research expertise with the lived experience of the patient voice, are needed to help policy makers create adaptable practices in all provinces (<u>124</u>). All elements of the future initiatives should function synergistically and be guided by clinicians, scientists, and patient advocates, and supported by governance. Future works should also focus on gaining more understanding of the osteoporosis risk factors, underlying causes, variations, medication accessibility, and region-specific factors. This understanding would navigate the health care delivery to be better tailored to each province's needs, and aligned with province resources. The fact that the osteoporosis treatment gap has remained high, means that only small proportions of high-risk individuals are identified and treated.

While efforts should be put into increasing adherence to treatment guidelines and osteoporosis management strategies, there is also a need for improvement in the current risk assessment tools and the development of newer tools. Earlier detection of an individual at high risk for developing osteoporosis or early intervention has been shown to be associated with less morbidity and mortality (125, 126). Many novel tools have been designed and introduced during the past few years which focus on either individual genetic factors such as polygenic risk scores (127), or advanced technologies such as artificial intelligence (128). Polygenic risk scores aggregate many small effects of alleles across the human genome to estimate the risk of a disease (127), such as osteoporosis. Indeed, most of the genetic risk of osteoporosis is imparted by common genetic

variants, each of which has a small effect, but taken together, explains five-fold more variance in bone density in the population than non-genetic clinical risk factors. Furthermore, combining high level imaging technologies with these novel risk factors and using artificial intelligence to discover unidentified risk factors using large datasets could increase the sensitivity and specificity of the assessment tools.

As new advances in the field of artificial intelligence, machine learning models have shown promising capacity in osteoporosis diagnosis or fracture detection. Fracture risk prediction tools and risk factor identification are additional promising lines of research. These innovations in a field where human capacity and judgment play an important role are impressive while the standardized protocol is still under development. Future work should focus on finding the domains in which artificial intelligence may assist the care, whether prevention, diagnosis or management of osteoporosis and fracture.

Despite the emphasis that should be put on increasing knowledge and evidence-based practice, the application of knowledge has remained a key issue. Collaborative models of health research like integrated approaches (e.g. integrated knowledge translation, IKT) and patient and public engagement have been suggested as possible strategies to improve the relevance, impact, and efficiency of research (129). These strategies have been created due to a failure to address ongoing variations in practice, and to develop effective and efficient evidence-based healthcare services. The patient engagement could be both in IKT and health research. The IKT adopts meaningful collaborative connections in the team including researchers and knowledge users. The main goal is to find solutions for the key logistical and translational barriers imposing the care gap, to deliver care based on contextual, cultural, and social realities, and to get acceptable outcomes both for the healthcare (those delivering the care) and patients (those receiving the care). However, the

evidence for the effectiveness of these models is limited, future works should evaluate the practicality of these models.

Finally, our results support the importance of characterizing bone health predictors in populations of different backgrounds to tailor the development of population-specific fracture prevention strategies. Increasing awareness of osteoporosis and its consequences depends on effective communication between patients and all professionals involved in their care, which could be possible through increased public awareness and engagement.

6.3 Conclusion

We documented changes in BMD and fracture rates among Canadians over the last two decades and the existence of geographical differences in these parameters. Our study provides evidence of the ongoing care gap in individuals at high-risk for fractures. A greater understanding of underlying causes and increasing awareness of how bone health parameters vary across the country will help to plan the most effective strategies for effective healthcare delivery for the prevention and treatment of osteoporosis.

<u>CHAPTER 7</u> REFERENCES

1. Zagorski P, Tabor E, Martela-Tomaszek K, Adamczyk P, Pluskiewicz W. Five-year fracture risk assessment in postmenopausal women, using both the POL-RISK calculator and the Garvan nomogram: the Silesia Osteo Active Study. Arch Osteoporos. 2021;16(1):32.

2. Canada PHAo. Osteoporosis and related fractures in Canada: Report from the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System 2020. Health Promotion and Chronic Disease Prevention in Canada: Research, Policy and Practice. 2021;41(2):68.

3. Brown JP, Morin S, Leslie W, Papaioannou A, Cheung AM, Davison KS, et al. Bisphosphonates for treatment of osteoporosis: expected benefits, potential harms, and drug holidays. Can Fam Physician. 2014;60(4):324-33.

 Wall M, Lohfeld L, Giangregorio L, Ioannidis G, Kennedy CC, Moser A, et al. Fracture risk assessment in long-term care: a survey of long-term care physicians. BMC Geriatr. 2013;13:109.

5. Leslie WD, Majumdar SR, Morin SN, Lix LM, Schousboe JT, Ensrud KE, et al. Performance of FRAX in clinical practice according to sex and osteoporosis definitions: the Manitoba BMD registry. Osteoporos Int. 2018;29(3):759-67.

6. Yang K, Miao H, Zhao R, Wu X, Liu B, Zheng S, et al. Association between serum uric acid and bone mineral density in patients with type 2 diabetes: A 6-year longitudinal study in China. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100(17):e25733.

 Kanis JA, Johansson H, Harvey NC, McCloskey EV. A brief history of FRAX. Arch Osteoporos. 2018;13(1):118.

8. Consensus development conference: diagnosis, prophylaxis, and treatment of osteoporosis. Am J Med. 1993;94(6):646-50.

90
9. Kanis JA. Assessment of fracture risk and its application to screening for postmenopausal osteoporosis: synopsis of a WHO report. WHO Study Group. Osteoporos Int. 1994;4(6):368-81.

10. Radeva M, Predel D, Winzler S, Teichgraber U, Pfeil A, Malich A, et al. Reliability of a Risk-Factor Questionnaire for Osteoporosis: A Primary Care Survey Study with Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry Ground Truth. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(3).

11. Blake GM, Fogelman I. The role of DXA bone density scans in the diagnosis and treatment of osteoporosis. Postgrad Med J. 2007;83(982):509-17.

12. Tu KN, Lie JD, Wan CKV, Cameron M, Austel AG, Nguyen JK, et al. Osteoporosis: A Review of Treatment Options. P T. 2018;43(2):92-104.

13. Hamdy NAT, Appelman-Dijkstra NM. Other Secondary Causes of Osteoporosis. Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism2018. p. 510-6.

14. Leslie WD, Majumdar SR, Morin SN, Lix LM. Change in Bone Mineral Density Is an Indicator of Treatment-Related Antifracture Effect in Routine Clinical Practice: A Registry-Based Cohort Study. Ann Intern Med. 2016;165(7):465-72.

Mazzetti G, Berger C, Leslie WD, Hans D, Langsetmo L, Hanley DA, et al.
 Densitometer-Specific Differences in the Correlation Between Body Mass Index and Lumbar
 Spine Trabecular Bone Score. J Clin Densitom. 2017;20(2):233-8.

16. Tothill P, Reid DM, Avenell A, Fenner JAK. Comparisons between Hologic, Norland and Lunar Dual-Energy X-Ray Bone Absorptiometers. 601993. p. 385-8.

17. Berger A. Bone mineral density scans. BMJ. 2002;325(7362):484.

18. Looker AC, Wahner HW, Dunn WL, Calvo MS, Harris TB, Heyse SP, et al. Updated data on proximal femur bone mineral levels of US adults. Osteoporos Int. 1998;8(5):468-89.

Zhou W, Langsetmo L, Berger C, Adachi JD, Papaioannou A, Ioannidis G, et al.
 Normative bone mineral density z-scores for Canadians aged 16 to 24 years: the Canadian
 Multicenter Osteoporosis Study. J Clin Densitom. 2010;13(3):267-76.

20. Teeratakulpisarn N, Charoensri S, Theerakulpisut D, Pongchaiyakul C. FRAX score with and without bone mineral density: a comparison and factors affecting the discordance in osteoporosis treatment in Thais. Arch Osteoporos. 2021;16(1):44.

Lentle B, Cheung AM, Hanley DA, Leslie WD, Lyons D, Papaioannou A, et al.
 Osteoporosis Canada 2010 guidelines for the assessment of fracture risk. Can Assoc Radiol J.
 2011;62(4):243-50.

22. Papaioannou A, Morin S, Cheung AM, Atkinson S, Brown JP, Feldman S, et al. 2010 clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in Canada: summary. CMAJ. 2010;182(17):1864-73.

23. Osterhoff G, Morgan EF, Shefelbine SJ, Karim L, McNamara LM, Augat P. Bone mechanical properties and changes with osteoporosis. Injury. 2016;47 Suppl 2:S11-20.

Cummings SR, Bates D, Black DM. Clinical use of bone densitometry: scientific review.
 JAMA. 2002;288(15):1889-97.

25. Osteoporosis: assessing the risk of fragility fracture. NICE Clinical Guidelines. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence: Clinical Guidelines. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (UK); 2017.

Compston JE, McClung MR, Leslie WD. Osteoporosis. The Lancet.
 2019;393(10169):364-76.

27. Wainwright SA, Marshall LM, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Black DM, Hillier TA, et al. Hip fracture in women without osteoporosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90(5):2787-93.

 Organization WH. Assessment of Fracture Risk and Its Application to Screening for Postmenopausal Osteoporosis. 1994.

29. United Nations DoEaSA, Population Division (2019). World Population Ageing 2019:
Highlights (ST/ESA/SER.A/430). 2019.

30. Raina PS, Wolfson C, Kirkland SA, Griffith LE, Oremus M, Patterson C, et al. The Canadian longitudinal study on aging (CLSA). Can J Aging. 2009;28(3):221-9.

31. Inoue T, Maeda K, Nagano A, Shimizu A, Ueshima J, Murotani K, et al. Related Factors and Clinical Outcomes of Osteosarcopenia: A Narrative Review. Nutrients. 2021;13(2).

32. Xu Y, Wu Q. Decreasing trend of bone mineral density in US multiethnic population: analysis of continuous NHANES 2005-2014. Osteoporos Int. 2018;29(11):2437-46.

33. Looker AC, Sarafrazi Isfahani N, Fan B, Shepherd JA. Trends in osteoporosis and low
bone mass in older US adults, 2005-2006 through 2013-2014. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28(6):197988.

34. Berger C, Goltzman D, Langsetmo L, Joseph L, Jackson S, Kreiger N, et al. Peak bone mass from longitudinal data: implications for the prevalence, pathophysiology, and diagnosis of osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res. 2010;25(9):1948-57.

Rinonapoli G, Ruggiero C, Meccariello L, Bisaccia M, Ceccarini P, Caraffa A.
 Osteoporosis in Men: A Review of an Underestimated Bone Condition. Int J Mol Sci.
 2021;22(4).

36. Leslie WD, O'Donnell S, Jean S, Lagace C, Walsh P, Bancej C, et al. Trends in hip fracture rates in Canada. JAMA. 2009;302(8):883-9.

37. Osaki M, Okuda R, Saeki Y, Okano T, Tsuda K, Nakamura T, et al. Efficiency of coordinator-based osteoporosis intervention in fragility fracture patients: a prospective randomized trial. Osteoporos Int. 2021;32(3):495-503.

38. Hopman WM, Berger C, Joseph L, Morin SN, Towheed T, Anastassiades T, et al.
Longitudinal assessment of health-related quality of life in osteoporosis: data from the
population-based Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study. Osteoporos Int. 2019;30(8):163544.

39. Leslie WD, Seeman E, Morin SN, Lix LM, Majumdar SR. The diagnostic threshold for osteoporosis impedes fracture prevention in women at high risk for fracture: A registry-based cohort study. Bone. 2018;114:298-303.

40. Morin SN, Lix LM, Majumdar SR, Leslie WD. Temporal trends in the incidence of osteoporotic fractures. Curr Osteoporos Rep. 2013;11(4):263-9.

41. Sakamoto K, Nakamura T, Hagino H, Endo N, Mori S, Muto Y, et al. Report on the Japanese Orthopaedic Association's 3-year project observing hip fractures at fixed-point hospitals. J Orthop Sci. 2006;11(2):127-34.

42. Harvey N, Dennison E, Cooper C. Osteoporosis: impact on health and economics. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2010;6(2):99-105.

43. Hopkins RB, Burke N, Von Keyserlingk C, Leslie WD, Morin SN, Adachi JD, et al. The current economic burden of illness of osteoporosis in Canada. Osteoporos Int. 2016;27(10):3023-32.

44. Sozen T, Ozisik L, Basaran NC. An overview and management of osteoporosis. Eur J Rheumatol. 2017;4(1):46-56.

45. Lentle BC, Berger C, Probyn L, Brown JP, Langsetmo L, Fine B, et al. Comparative Analysis of the Radiology of Osteoporotic Vertebral Fractures in Women and Men: Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Observations from the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos). J Bone Miner Res. 2018;33(4):569-79.

46. Khosla S, Amin S, Orwoll E. Osteoporosis in men. Endocr Rev. 2008;29(4):441-64.

47. Leslie WD, O'Donnell S, Lagace C, Walsh P, Bancej C, Jean S, et al. Population-based Canadian hip fracture rates with international comparisons. Osteoporos Int. 2010;21(8):1317-22.

48. Ballane G, Cauley JA, Luckey MM, El-Hajj Fuleihan G. Worldwide prevalence and incidence of osteoporotic vertebral fractures. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28(5):1531-42.

49. Cauley JA, Chalhoub D, Kassem AM, Fuleihan Gel H. Geographic and ethnic disparities in osteoporotic fractures. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10(6):338-51.

50. Hernlund E, Svedbom A, Ivergard M, Compston J, Cooper C, Stenmark J, et al.
Osteoporosis in the European Union: medical management, epidemiology and economic burden.
A report prepared in collaboration with the International Osteoporosis Foundation (IOF) and the
European Federation of Pharmaceutical Industry Associations (EFPIA). Arch Osteoporos.
2013;8:136.

51. Afzelius P, Garding MM, Molsted S. Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry of Both Hips
Helps Appropriate Diagnosis of Low Bone Mineral Density and Osteoporosis. Diagnostics
(Basel). 2017;7(3).

52. Paggiosi MA, Glueer CC, Roux C, Reid DM, Felsenberg D, Barkmann R, et al.
International variation in proximal femur bone mineral density. Osteoporos Int. 2011;22(2):7219.

53. Langsetmo L, Hanley DA, Kreiger N, Jamal SA, Prior J, Adachi JD, et al. Geographic variation of bone mineral density and selected risk factors for prediction of incident fracture among Canadians 50 and older. Bone. 2008;43(4):672-8.

54. Kreiger N, Tenenhouse A, Joseph L, Mackenzie T, Poliquin S, Brown JP, et al. Research Notes: The Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos): Background, Rationale, Methods. Canadian Journal on Aging / La Revue canadienne du vieillissement. 2010;18(3):376-87.

55. Barake M, El Eid R, Ajjour S, Chakhtoura M, Meho L, Mahmoud T, et al. Osteoporotic hip and vertebral fractures in the Arab region: a systematic review. Osteoporos Int. 2021.

56. Kanis JA, Oden A, McCloskey EV, Johansson H, Wahl DA, Cooper C, et al. A systematic review of hip fracture incidence and probability of fracture worldwide. Osteoporos Int. 2012;23(9):2239-56.

57. Dhanwal DK, Dennison EM, Harvey NC, Cooper C. Epidemiology of hip fracture: Worldwide geographic variation. Indian J Orthop. 2011;45(1):15-22.

58. Pinheiro Mde M, Eis SR. Epidemiology of osteoporotic fractures in Brazil: what we have and what we need. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 2010;54(2):164-70.

59. Clark P, Denova-Gutierrez E, Zerbini C, Sanchez A, Messina O, Jaller JJ, et al. FRAXbased intervention and assessment thresholds in seven Latin American countries. Osteoporos Int. 2018;29(3):707-15.

60. Morin SN, Berger C, Liu W, Prior JC, Cheung AM, Hanley DA, et al. Differences in fracture prevalence and in bone mineral density between Chinese and White Canadians: the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study (CaMos). Arch Osteoporos. 2020;15(1):147.

61. Leslie WD, Morin SN, Lix LM, McCloskey EV, Johansson H, Harvey NC, et al. Fracture prediction from FRAX for Canadian ethnic groups: a registry-based cohort study. Osteoporos Int. 2021;32(1):113-22.

Cauley JA. Defining ethnic and racial differences in osteoporosis and fragility fractures.
 Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2011;469(7):1891-9.

63. Subramanian SV, Ozaltin E, Finlay JE. Height of nations: a socioeconomic analysis of cohort differences and patterns among women in 54 low- to middle-income countries. PLoS One. 2011;6(4):e18962.

64. Leslie WD, Lix LM, Yogendran MS, Morin SN, Metge CJ, Majumdar SR. Temporal trends in obesity, osteoporosis treatment, bone mineral density, and fracture rates: a population-based historical cohort study. J Bone Miner Res. 2014;29(4):952-9.

65. Nam HS, Kweon SS, Choi JS, Zmuda JM, Leung PC, Lui LY, et al. Racial/ethnic
differences in bone mineral density among older women. J Bone Miner Metab. 2013;31(2):1908.

66. Looker AC, Melton LJ, 3rd, Harris TB, Borrud LG, Shepherd JA. Prevalence and trends in low femur bone density among older US adults: NHANES 2005-2006 compared with NHANES III. J Bone Miner Res. 2010;25(1):64-71.

67. Arias LH, Treceno C, Garcia-Ortega P, Rodriguez-Paredes J, Escudero A, Sainz M, et al. Hip fracture rates and bisphosphonate consumption in Spain. An ecologic study. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;69(3):559-64.

68. Hiligsmann M, Bruyere O, Roberfroid D, Dubois C, Parmentier Y, Carton J, et al. Trends in hip fracture incidence and in the prescription of antiosteoporosis medications during the same time period in Belgium (2000-2007). Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2012;64(5):744-50.

69. Abrahamsen B, Vestergaard P. Declining incidence of hip fractures and the extent of use of anti-osteoporotic therapy in Denmark 1997-2006. Osteoporos Int. 2010;21(3):373-80.

70. Hawley S, Leal J, Delmestri A, Prieto-Alhambra D, Arden NK, Cooper C, et al. Anti-Osteoporosis Medication Prescriptions and Incidence of Subsequent Fracture Among Primary Hip Fracture Patients in England and Wales: An Interrupted Time-Series Analysis. J Bone Miner Res. 2016;31(11):2008-15.

71. Brauer CA, Coca-Perraillon M, Cutler DM, Rosen AB. Incidence and mortality of hip fractures in the United States. JAMA. 2009;302(14):1573-9.

72. Jean S, O'Donnell S, Lagace C, Walsh P, Bancej C, Brown JP, et al. Trends in hip fracture rates in Canada: an age-period-cohort analysis. J Bone Miner Res. 2013;28(6):1283-9.

73. Khosla S, Cauley JA, Compston J, Kiel DP, Rosen C, Saag KG, et al. Addressing the Crisis in the Treatment of Osteoporosis: A Path Forward. J Bone Miner Res. 2017;32(3):424-30.

74. Rosengren BE, Bjork J, Cooper C, Abrahamsen B. Recent hip fracture trends in Sweden and Denmark with age-period-cohort effects. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28(1):139-49.

75. Zhang YW, Lu PP, Li YJ, Dai GC, Chen MH, Zhao YK, et al. Prevalence,

Characteristics, and Associated Risk Factors of the Elderly with Hip Fractures: A Cross-Sectional Analysis of NHANES 2005-2010. Clin Interv Aging. 2021;16:177-85.

76. Alswat KA. Gender Disparities in Osteoporosis. J Clin Med Res. 2017;9(5):382-7.

77. Cawthon PM. Gender differences in osteoporosis and fractures. Clin Orthop Relat Res.2011;469(7):1900-5.

Black DM, Rosen CJ. Clinical Practice. Postmenopausal Osteoporosis. N Engl J Med.
 2016;374(3):254-62.

Garriguet D. Bone health: osteoporosis, calcium and vitamin D. Health Rep.
 2011;22(3):7-14.

80. Mirza F, Canalis E. Management of endocrine disease: Secondary osteoporosis: pathophysiology and management. Eur J Endocrinol. 2015;173(3):R131-51.

81. Estrada K, Styrkarsdottir U, Evangelou E, Hsu YH, Duncan EL, Ntzani EE, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis identifies 56 bone mineral density loci and reveals 14 loci associated with risk of fracture. Nat Genet. 2012;44(5):491-501.

82. Ralston SH, Uitterlinden AG. Genetics of osteoporosis. Endocr Rev. 2010;31(5):629-62.

83. Kreidieh OI, El-Hajj Fuleihan G. Impact of changes in mortality on FRAX-derived fracture probabilities. Bone. 2014;62:43-50.

84. Nih Consensus Development Panel on Osteoporosis Prevention D, Therapy. Osteoporosis prevention, diagnosis, and therapy. JAMA. 2001;285(6):785-95.

85. Abrahamsen B, Brask-Lindemann D, Rubin KH, Schwarz P. A review of lifestyle, smoking and other modifiable risk factors for osteoporotic fractures. Bonekey Rep. 2014;3:574.

86. Kanis JA, Johansson H, Johnell O, Oden A, De Laet C, Eisman JA, et al. Alcohol intake as a risk factor for fracture. Osteoporos Int. 2005;16(7):737-42.

87. Gupta A, March L. Treating osteoporosis. Aust Prescr. 2016;39(2):40-6.

88. van Oostwaard M. Osteoporosis and the Nature of Fragility Fracture: An Overview. In: Hertz K, Santy-Tomlinson J, editors. Fragility Fracture Nursing: Holistic Care and Management of the Orthogeriatric Patient. Cham (CH): Springer; 2018. p. 1-13.

 Banefelt J, Akesson KE, Spangeus A, Ljunggren O, Karlsson L, Strom O, et al. Risk of imminent fracture following a previous fracture in a Swedish database study. Osteoporos Int. 2019;30(3):601-9. 90. Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Johansson H, De Laet C, Eisman JA, et al. Smoking and fracture risk: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int. 2005;16(2):155-62.

91. Messina OD, Vidal LF, Vidal MV, Bultink IEM, Raterman HG, Lems W. Management of glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2021;33(4):793-804.

92. Raterman HG, Bultink IEM, Lems WF. Current Treatments and New Developments in the Management of Glucocorticoid-induced Osteoporosis. Drugs. 2019;79(10):1065-87.

93. Kanis JA, Johansson H, Oden A, Johnell O, De Laet C, Eisman JA, et al. A family history of fracture and fracture risk: a meta-analysis. Bone. 2004;35(5):1029-37.

94. Harvey NC, Oden A, Orwoll E, Lapidus J, Kwok T, Karlsson MK, et al. Measures of Physical Performance and Muscle Strength as Predictors of Fracture Risk Independent of FRAX, Falls, and aBMD: A Meta-Analysis of the Osteoporotic Fractures in Men (MrOS) Study. J Bone Miner Res. 2018;33(12):2150-7.

95. Santy-Tomlinson J, Speerin R, Hertz K, Tochon-Laruaz AC, van Oostwaard M. Falls and Secondary Fracture Prevention. In: Hertz K, Santy-Tomlinson J, editors. Fragility Fracture Nursing: Holistic Care and Management of the Orthogeriatric Patient. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018. p. 27-40.

96. Leslie WD, Lix LM. Comparison between various fracture risk assessment tools.Osteoporos Int. 2014;25(1):1-21.

97. Leslie WD, Morin SN. New Developments in Fracture Risk Assessment for Current Osteoporosis Reports. Curr Osteoporos Rep. 2020;18(3):115-29.

98. Kanis JA, Harvey NC, Johansson H, Oden A, Leslie WD, McCloskey EV. FRAX Update. J Clin Densitom. 2017;20(3):360-7. 99. Kanis JA, McCloskey EV, Harvey NC, Leslie WD. FRAX: Assessment of Fracture Risk.
Primer on the Metabolic Bone Diseases and Disorders of Mineral Metabolism. 9 ed2018. p. 3319.

100. Cosman F, de Beur SJ, LeBoff MS, Lewiecki EM, Tanner B, Randall S, et al. Clinician'sGuide to Prevention and Treatment of Osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int. 2014;25(10):2359-81.

101. Kanis JA, Cooper C, Rizzoli R, Reginster JY, Scientific Advisory Board of the European Society for C, Economic Aspects of O, et al. European guidance for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Osteoporos Int. 2019;30(1):3-44.

102. Dellinger A. Older Adult Falls: Effective Approaches to Prevention. Curr Trauma Rep.2017;3(2):118-23.

103. Cadore EL, Rodriguez-Manas L, Sinclair A, Izquierdo M. Effects of different exercise interventions on risk of falls, gait ability, and balance in physically frail older adults: a systematic review. Rejuvenation Res. 2013;16(2):105-14.

104. Daly RM, Gianoudis J, Kersh ME, Bailey CA, Ebeling PR, Krug R, et al. Effects of a 12-Month Supervised, Community-Based, Multimodal Exercise Program Followed by a 6-Month Research-to-Practice Transition on Bone Mineral Density, Trabecular Microarchitecture, and Physical Function in Older Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Bone Miner Res. 2020;35(3):419-29.

105. Lyles KW, Colon-Emeric CS, Magaziner JS, Adachi JD, Pieper CF, Mautalen C, et al.
Zoledronic acid and clinical fractures and mortality after hip fracture. N Engl J Med.
2007;357(18):1799-809.

106. Berger C, Langsetmo L, Joseph L, Hanley DA, Davison KS, Josse R, et al. Change in bone mineral density as a function of age in women and men and association with the use of antiresorptive agents. CMAJ. 2008;178(13):1660-8.

107. Canada O. Osteoporosis Canada - About the Disease 2021 [Available from: https://osteoporosis.ca/about-the-disease/.

108. Khosla S, Shane E. A Crisis in the Treatment of Osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res.2016;31(8):1485-7.

109. Clynes MA, Harvey NC, Curtis EM, Fuggle NR, Dennison EM, Cooper C. The epidemiology of osteoporosis. Br Med Bull. 2020;133(1):105-17.

110. Giangregorio L, Papaioannou A, Cranney A, Zytaruk N, Adachi JD. Fragility fractures and the osteoporosis care gap: an international phenomenon. Semin Arthritis Rheum.
2006;35(5):293-305.

111. Macias-Hernandez SI, Degollado-Rodriguez MM, Maldonado-Sanchez H, de Leon AO, Coronado-Zarco R, Nava-Bringas TI, et al. The yawning gap between osteoporosis diagnosis and treatment after a fragility fracture in Mexico. Arch Osteoporos. 2021;16(1):59.

112. Leslie WD, Giangregorio LM, Yogendran M, Azimaee M, Morin S, Metge C, et al. A population-based analysis of the post-fracture care gap 1996-2008: the situation is not improving. Osteoporos Int. 2012;23(5):1623-9.

Solomon DH, Johnston SS, Boytsov NN, McMorrow D, Lane JM, Krohn KD.Osteoporosis medication use after hip fracture in U.S. patients between 2002 and 2011. J BoneMiner Res. 2014;29(9):1929-37.

114. Compston J. Reducing the treatment gap in osteoporosis. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2020;8(1):7-9.

115. Greenspan SL, Wyman A, Hooven FH, Adami S, Gehlbach S, Anderson FA, Jr., et al. Predictors of treatment with osteoporosis medications after recent fragility fractures in a multinational cohort of postmenopausal women. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2012;60(3):455-61.

116. Fraser LA, Ioannidis G, Adachi JD, Pickard L, Kaiser SM, Prior J, et al. Fragility
fractures and the osteoporosis care gap in women: the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study.
Osteoporos Int. 2011;22(3):789-96.

117. Papaioannou A, Kennedy CC, Ioannidis G, Gao Y, Sawka AM, Goltzman D, et al. The osteoporosis care gap in men with fragility fractures: the Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study. Osteoporos Int. 2008;19(4):581-7.

118. Majumdar SR, Lier DA, Hanley DA, Juby AG, Beaupre LA, Team S-P. Economic evaluation of a population-based osteoporosis intervention for outpatients with non-traumatic non-hip fractures: the "Catch a Break" 1i [type C] FLS. Osteoporos Int. 2017;28(6):1965-77.

119. Kalender WA, Felsenberg D, Genant HK, Fischer M, Dequeker J, Reeve J. The European Spine Phantom--a tool for standardization and quality control in spinal bone mineral measurements by DXA and QCT. Eur J Radiol. 1995;20(2):83-92.

120. Raina P WC, Kirkland S, Griffith L. The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) Report on Health and Aging in Canada.

121. Abtahi S, Driessen JHM, Vestergaard P, van den Bergh J, Boonen A, de Vries F, et al.
Secular trends in major osteoporotic fractures among 50+ adults in Denmark between 1995 and
2010. Arch Osteoporos. 2018;13(1):91.

122. Cooper C, Cole ZA, Holroyd CR, Earl SC, Harvey NC, Dennison EM, et al. Secular trends in the incidence of hip and other osteoporotic fractures. Osteoporos Int. 2011;22(5):1277-88.

123. Raina P, Wolfson C, Kirkland S, Griffith LE, Balion C, Cossette B, et al. Cohort Profile:The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). Int J Epidemiol. 2019;48(6):1752-3j.

124. Harvey NC, Poole KE, Ralston SH, McCloskey EV, Sangan CB, Wiggins L, et al. Towards a cure for osteoporosis: the UK Royal Osteoporosis Society (ROS) Osteoporosis Research Roadmap. Arch Osteoporos. 2022;17(1):12.

125. Conley RB, Adib G, Adler RA, Åkesson KE, Alexander IM, Amenta KC, et al. Secondary Fracture Prevention: Consensus Clinical Recommendations from a Multistakeholder Coalition. J Orthop Trauma. 2020;34(4):e125-e41.

126. fuMontero-Odasso M, van der Velde N, Alexander NB, Becker C, Blain H, Camicioli R, et al. New horizons in falls prevention and management for older adults: a global initiative. Age Ageing. 2021.

127. Forgetta V, Keller-Baruch J, Forest M, Durand A, Bhatnagar S, Kemp JP, et al. Development of a polygenic risk score to improve screening for fracture risk: A genetic risk prediction study. PLoS Med. 2020;17(7):e1003152.

128. Smets J, Shevroja E, Hugle T, Leslie WD, Hans D. Machine Learning Solutions for Osteoporosis-A Review. J Bone Miner Res. 2021;36(5):833-51.

129. Banner D, Bains M, Carroll S, Kandola DK, Rolfe DE, Wong C, et al. Patient and Public Engagement in Integrated Knowledge Translation Research: Are we there yet? Res Involv Engagem. 2019;5:8.